Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the COUNCIL will be held at the Civic Offices,
Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN on
THURSDAY 24 MARCH 2016 AT 7.30 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 16 March 2016

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business
growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and
fuel efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

To: The Members of Wokingham Borough Council

ITEM
NO.

WARD

SUBJECT

70.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

71.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 18
February 2016.

72.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

73.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of the Council
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

73.1

Emmbrook;
Evendons;
Norreys; Wescott

Imogen Shepherd-Dubey has asked the following
question of the Leader of the Council:
Question
At the Borough Council meeting on 18th February you
claimed in your budget speech that there is “£2.5
million of annual income from the regeneration of the
town centre”.
I have been unable to find any reference in the
Medium Term Financial Plan to any annual income, let
alone £2.5 million, from Wokingham town centre
regeneration. In fact, the papers show that on top of
all the lump sum costs, which amount to over £50
million, Wokingham town centre regeneration will cost
at least £700,000 a year for the next 3 years, not bring
in income. What is the justification for your claim that
there is – or will be in the future - £2.5 million annual
income from the town centre regeneration?

PAGE
NO.

13 - 32

74.

PETITIONS
To receive any petitions which Members or members
of the public wish to present.

75.

MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive any announcements by the Mayor.

76.

None Specific

PROPOSED LAND DRAINAGE BYELAWS
To consider the adoption of proposed land drainage
byelaws.

33 - 48

RECOMMENDATION That Council:
1)
formally resolve to adopt the proposed land
drainage byelaws as set out in Appendix 1 to
the report;

77.

Bulmershe and
Whitegates

2)

authorise the sealing thereof and approve
carrying out the public consultation phase;

3)

submit the proposed byelaws together with any
unresolved objections received thereto to the
Secretary of State for confirmation.

RE-DESIGNATION OF POLLING PLACE
To consider designating Bulmershe Leisure Centre as
the Polling Place for Bulmershe and Whitegates ward
for the European Union Referendum.

49 - 52

RECOMMENDATION: That Council agree that
Bulmershe Leisure Centre be designated as the
Polling Place for Blumershe and Whitegates ward,
instead of Earley Home Guard Social Club, for the
European Union Referendum scheduled on 23 June
2016.
78.

None Specific

CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION
To consider proposed changes to the Constitution as
put forward by the Constitution Review Working Group.
RECOMMENDATION: That Council approves the
following amendments to the relevant sections of the
Council’s Constitution, as put forward by the
Constitution Review Working Group:
1)

Rule 4.2.15 Voting - Delete the last line of the
second paragraph of Rule 4.2.15;

2)

Rule 5.1.6 Deputy Executive Members
The following additional wording to be added to

53 - 92

the first paragraph of Rule 5.1.6:
“The Leader may also remove any Member
from their role as Deputy Executive Member.”
3)

Chapter 9.2 – Code of Conduct for Councillors
Guidance on Bullying and Intimidation (to be
included as Appendix C to Chapter 9.2) and the
following wording to be added to Rule 9.2.8.2:
“Supporting Guidance on Bullying and
Intimidation can be found at Appendix C.”

4)

Chapter 9.3 – Member/Officer Protocol
Revised versions of the following documents:
 Chapter 9.4 – Anti-Fraud and Corruption
Strategy;
 Chapter 9.5 – Whistleblowing Policy and
Guidance;
 Chapter 9.6 – Anti Bribery Policy;
 Chapter 9.7 – Anti Money Laundering Policy;
 Chapter 9.8 – Prosecution and Sanction
Policy.

5)
Chapter 11.3 – Scheme of Delegation to
Officers
A new Rule to be inserted as 11.3.6g)ii) as
follows and the numbering of 11.3.6g)ii-v)
amended accordingly:
“Approval of Community Asset Transfers under
leases of between 14-30 years following
consultation with the Executive Member for
Regeneration and Communities, the Executive
Member with responsibility for the relevant
service area and local Ward Members.”
79.

None Specific

ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 2015-16
To receive a report from the Chairman of the Overview
and Scrutiny Management Committee on the work
undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny Management
Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees
over the past year.
RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management
Committee be noted.

93 - 118

80.

None Specific

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD ANNUAL
REPORT 2015-16
To receive a report from the Chairman of the Health
and Wellbeing Board on the work undertaken over the
past year.

119 - 124

RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the
Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board be noted.
81.

None Specific

AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16
To receive a report from the Chairman of the Audit
Committee on the work undertaken over the past year.

125 - 128

RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the
Chairman of the Audit Committee be noted.
82.

None Specific

STANDARDS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 201516
To receive a report from the Chairman of the
Standards Committee on the work undertaken over the
past year.

129 - 134

RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the
Chairman of the Standards Committee be noted.
83.

None Specific

REPORTS FROM MEMBERS APPOINTED TO
OUTSIDE BODIES
To note those reports received from Members on
Outside Bodies as circulated in the agenda.
RECOMMENDATION: That the reports from Members
appointed to Outside Bodies be noted.

84.

STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL,
EXECUTIVE MEMBERS AND DEPUTY EXECUTIVE
MEMBERS
To receive any statements by the Leader of the
Council, Executive Members and Deputy Executive
Members.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.23 the total
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 20 minutes,
and no Member shall speak for more than 5 minutes.

85.

STATEMENTS FROM COUNCIL OWNED
COMPANIES
To receive any statements from Directors of Council
Owned Companies.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.24 the total
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 10 minutes,
and no Director, except with the consent of Council,

135 - 224

shall speak for more than 3 minutes.
86.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions submitted under Notice
Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time will
be dealt with in a written reply

86.1

Winnersh

Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey has asked the Executive
Member for Planning and Highways the following
question:
Question
Will you guarantee that the Winnersh relief road will be
delivered by 2018?

86.2

None Specific

Lindsay Ferris has asked the Executive Member for
Environment the following question:
Question
Will you guarantee keeping weekly waste collection
until at least 2020?

86.3

None Specific

Beth Rowland has asked the Executive Member for
Children's Services the following question:
Question
What are you doing to help schools recruit good quality
teachers and senior leaders?

86.4

None Specific

Prue Bray has asked the Executive Member for
Planning and Highways the following question:
Question
Will the Council look at ways of providing housing
specifically for key workers, priced at levels they can
afford?

86.5

None Specific

Abdul Loyes has asked the Executive Member for
Planning and Highways the following question:
Question
Does the Council welcome the government’s initiative
to reduce social rents over the next 4 years?

86.6

None Specific

Pauline Jorgensen has asked the Executive Member
for Planning and Highways the following question:

Question
Tailbacks on the A329M, caused by the new road
layout, have been causing considerable delays to
commuters’ journeys. Could the Member set out what
the Council is doing to help ease congestion on this
road?
86.7

None Specific

Laura Blumenthal has asked the Executive Member for
Planning and Highways the following question:
Question
Could the Member explain what the Council is doing to
ensure the best possible communication between the
Highways Department and councillors?

86.8

Hawkedon;
Hillside; Maiden
Erlegh

Guy Grandison has asked the Executive Member for
Children's Services the following question:
Question
Could the Member update the Council on the plans to
provide extra space for schools in Earley?

86.9

None Specific

Kate Haines has asked the Executive Member for
Children's Services the following question:
Question
Could the Member explain what steps the Council is
taking to encourage more families to foster children in
Wokingham Borough?

86.10 None Specific

Alison Swaddle has asked the Executive Member for
Children's Services the following question:
Question
The annual Ofsted report has stated that 98 percent of
the Borough’s secondary school pupils are judged
‘good’ or ‘outstanding’, and that this ranks Wokingham
Borough 11th out of 150 local education authorities.
Does the Member welcome this outcome?

86.11 Wescott

UllaKarin Clark has asked the Executive Member for
Regeneration and Communities the following question:
Question
Can the Member explain what feedback was received
from the public events and workshops on the Market
Place and Peach Place developments?

86.12 None Specific

Dianne King has asked the Executive Member for
Resident Services the following question:

Question
Can the Member explain how the Council’s proposed
Library Strategy will benefit the residents of
Wokingham Borough?
86.13 None Specific

Ian Pittock has asked the Executive Member for
Children's Services the following question:
Question
Will the authority have sufficient places for new
secondary pupils this September and what part will
Bohunt play in this?

87.

MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD
MATTERS
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions in relation to the latest circulated volume
of Minutes of Meetings and Ward Matters

88.

MOTIONS
To consider any motions
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.11.2 a
maximum period of 30 minutes will be allowed for each
Motion to be moved, seconded and debated, including
dealing with any amendments. At the expiry of the 30minute period debate will cease immediately, the
mover of the Motion or amendment will have the right
of reply before the Motion or amendment is put to the
vote

88.1

None Specific

Motion 378 submitted by Prue Bray
This Council acknowledges that whilst many people
may aspire to own their own home, in many cases their
income will never reach a level that will allow them to
buy a property even at a subsidised cost under Right
to Buy, shared equity, or 80% market value starter
homes as announced in the Housing and Planning Bill.
Through its Housing Strategy the Council has
committed itself to providing 1000 additional affordable
homes in the Borough by the end of 2018 and as part
of that strategy recognises the need to provide more
accommodation that people can afford to rent, to
contribute to satisfying the demand for housing locally.
The Council notes that
- market rents within the Borough are
approximately 3 times social rents, the rent level
normally paid by council tenants, with the
market rent for typical 3-bedroom properties set

-

-

-

at £1200 per month or more, putting them
beyond the reach of local families on low
incomes, including those on Housing Benefit
according to information collected to inform the
Housing Strategy, only 12% of those on the
housing register in Wokingham Borough have
sufficient income to be able to afford even
affordable rent, which is defined as 80% of
market rent
the shortage of council and housing association
properties often means the only type of
accommodation available to those seeking help
from the Council’s Housing service is in the
private rented sector
the pressure on the private rented sector locally
and the competition for accommodation has led
to increases in the number of people accepted
as homeless in Wokingham Borough due to the
end of shorthold tenancies.

The Council therefore regrets measures in the
Conservative government’s Housing and Planning Bill
which reduce the ability to provide homes at rents that
local people can afford, including:
-

-

-

-

Pay to Stay, under which households living in
social housing in the Borough with incomes
greater than £30,000 per annum will be required
to pay additional rent, up to near market levels,
with the additional income going to the
Treasury, not the landlord;
The forced sale of high value council housing as
it becomes vacant, with the proceeds to be paid
to the Treasury to fund the extension of Right to
Buy to housing association tenants across the
country;
The ability for the government to assess the
income that it deems it should receive under the
sale of high value council housing, and to
require councils to pay the amount so calculated
whether or not the houses have been sold and
regardless of the money received
The introduction of the choice to build “starter
homes” for sale on new developments to
replace the requirement to build affordable
homes for rent or shared ownership, or to
provide equivalent funding for off-site affordable
homes

and will
-

Work with other local authorities to oppose the

-

-

-

-

88.2

None Specific

introduction of the unfair levy on councils based
on an assessment of the sale value of council
homes, which will lead to either a reduction in
Wokingham Borough council housing through
sales or a reduction in the money available to
maintain that housing
Continue to lobby the Conservative government
to oppose Pay to Stay and in particular to
oppose the use of a blanket figure of £30,000
for household income outside London above
which Pay to Stay will apply, pointing out the
unfairness of not taking into account differing
market rent levels and other living costs in
different parts of the country
Provide information on the measures in the
Housing and Planning Bill and their implications
for existing tenants and those seeking housing
advice, and provide support and advice for
individual tenants on issues arising from these
measures
Continue to seek to provide additional housing
for social and affordable rent through its
Housing department and its housing company,
WHL
Endeavour to maximise the number of
properties provided for social and affordable
rent by developers under their affordable
housing planning obligations, whilst recognising
the new duty that is to be placed on councils to
promote starter homes for purchase under the
terms of the Housing and Planning Bill.

Motion 379 submitted by Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey
In the light of the Council’s worsened financial position
following this year’s reduced local government funding
settlement and future funding forecasts to 2020, this
Council will review its plans for the regeneration of
Wokingham town centre.

88.3

Norreys

Motion 380 submitted by Lindsay Ferris
This Council believes that Wokingham and Emmbrook
football club should be granted a lease to enable them
to play Hellenic League Premier Division football at
Cantley Park.

88.4

Wescott

Motion 381 submitted by Malcolm Richards
This Council will continue to consult on and investigate
all aspects of safety and traffic flow at the roads
involved in the recently upgraded system at Coppid

Beach Roundabout. This Council will also continue to
ensure that the most effective and appropriate
measures are in place to protect motorists and
pedestrians on all road networks within Wokingham
Borough.
88.5

None Specific

Motion 382 submitted by David Sleight
Our Vision is that our Borough should be a great place
live and an even better place to do business. The
latter needs excellent transport links but our journey
times by train from Wokingham to Waterloo are
uncompetitive having been extended over the past 40
years. With the re-franchising of the South Western
about to be competed, we call for a journey time
reduction so that journeys from and to Waterloo take
no more than 59 minutes – in other words, Wokingham
in One.

CONTACT OFFICER
Anne Hunter
Tel
Email
Postal Address

Service Manager, Democratic Services
0118 974 6051
anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 71.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE COUNCIL
HELD ON 18 FEBRUARY 2016 FROM 8.00 PM TO 9.50 PM
Members Present
Councillors: Parry Batth (Mayor), Bob Pitts (Deputy Mayor), Mark Ashwell, Keith Baker,
Chris Bowring, Prue Bray, David Chopping, UllaKarin Clark, Lindsay Ferris,
Michael Firmager, Mike Gore, Guy Grandison, Kate Haines, Mike Haines,
Charlotte Haitham Taylor, John Halsall, Pauline Helliar-Symons, Tim Holton,
Philip Houldsworth, Dianne King, John Jarvis, Norman Jorgensen, Pauline Jorgensen,
John Kaiser, Abdul Loyes, Tom McCann, Ken Miall, Philip Mirfin, Stuart Munro, Ian Pittock,
Barrie Patman, Anthony Pollock, Malcolm Richards, Angus Ross, Beth Rowland,
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, David Sleight, Chris Smith, Wayne Smith, Bill Soane,
Rob Stanton, Alison Swaddle, Simon Weeks, Bob Wyatt and Shahid Younis
64.
APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were submitted from Alistair Auty, Laura Blumenthal, Gary Cowan,
Nicky Jerrome, Julian McGhee-Sumner, Nick Ray, Chris Singleton and Paul Swaddle.
65.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 19 November 2015 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Mayor.
66.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Tom McCann declared a Personal Interest on the grounds that his daughter
was employed by a company involved in the marketing of the Wokingham Town Centre
Regeneration Project.
67.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited members of the public to
submit questions to the appropriate Members.
67.1

Mel Horton asked the Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities
the following question;
Question
Will the Council review their decision to appropriate the land at Elms Field in the light of
1,500 signatures demonstrating that the land at Elms Field is still required by the
community for its current purpose?
Answer
The short answer is no. In 2004 the Council embarked on the process of producing a Local
Plan to identify how local growth would be best accommodated across the Borough. This
process involved several years of research and studies looking at the local area and its
infrastructure, both current and required.
Extensive research and review was undertaken as part of this process which led to the
adoption of documents such as the Core Strategy, Managing Development Delivery
document, and supplementary planning documents such as those for the North and South
Wokingham Strategic Development Locations and Wokingham Town Centre.
All of these documents have been the result of extensive consultation with residents, local
businesses, developers and, in regards to the Local Plan core documents, have
undergone Examination In Public by the Planning Inspectorate prior to adoption.

13

These documents clearly identify the level of local growth required and where it should be
located within the area, including the town centre sites which are being addressed through
the Council’s regeneration. This is summarised in Policy SAL08 of the MDD which lists
Peach Place, Elms Field and the Carnival Pool areas as Allocated Mixed Use Sites.
The Appropriation of Elms Field in 2007 was a part of this long process of delivering the
infrastructure required for the Borough. It was a formal legal process which has already
been completed and will not be reversed.
The Council has a responsibility to all its residents, both those who are living here now and
those who will be living here in the future.
We need to ensure that Wokingham has the right infrastructure in place to support a great
quality of life, providing people with everything they need from top quality school places
and sports facilities, to entertainment facilities and an improved retail experience, to
country parks and play areas.
Our proposals for Elms Field show how we are committed to achieving a great town centre
experience for our residents.
Supplementary Question
Is the Council satisfied that, whilst they have followed the correct legal process to
complete the appropriation of the land at Elms Field, they have also acted in a morally
correct way, as will be judged by all the people of Wokingham who have signed the
petition and others calling for the land to be maintained as public open space and facilities.
And, indeed, by the Ellison family themselves, who left this land for the enjoyment of the
people of Wokingham and not for it to become the Elms Field cashpoint, as Members of
the Council openly refer to it; and not to be turned into an Aldi supermarket and a Premier
Inn which adds no value to anyone in Wokingham as far as the community are concerned?
Supplementary Answer
That is quite a statement. The Elms Field cashpoint. I have never heard that one before,
but thank you for mentioning it. We do feel that we have a moral right to go ahead with
this. Quite simply, 1,500 residents who have signed the petition, as you say, are a small
number compared to the remainder of the town and all the people on the doorstep who, for
many years now, have said simply “get on with it, we want it finishing”.
67.2 Clive Jones asked the Leader of the Council the following question;
Question
Having gone through the 10 Year Capital Vision on pages 93-96 of the Medium Term
Financial Plan, I could find no reference to any money being spent on anything in Earley at
all for the next 10 years. Can you please tell how much you are planning to invest in
Earley?
Answer
First of all can I explain the context of the Capital Programme contained within the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. This is a plan for the Borough and not a plan for
the towns and parishes. Therefore, it will generally not link any expenditure or indeed
savings to any particular parish or town area. This is especially so for the Borough-wide
items in the capital plan like the replacement of street lights or highways maintenance.

14

The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) will become less detailed as you go further out
in this 10 year period. Who knows what the landscape might be then? Who might actually
be on this Council by then? So it would be difficult to provide an answer to your question
beyond the 3 year period identified in the MTFP pages 26 through 28.
If you look at page 27, the top graph, you will see where the funding for the Capital
Programme comes from. Increasingly the funding for our Capital Programme will be
coming from housing developments. As this happens that money, be it S106 or CIL, will be
expected to be spent on infrastructure in the areas taking the housing. 37% of the total 10
year capital budget is already designated to be spent in those areas. I am sure you will
agree with me that if an area takes nearly 3,000 houses then they deserve the improved
infrastructure to mitigate against them. Unfortunately, and I am sure you will agree with
me, Earley is practically “full” which means the volume of new houses built there is very
small and therefore the funding for capital projects there will be quite limited.
Looking at the Borough wide items in the programme clearly Earley will get their fair share
of investment through them. Whilst it is impractical to itemise every little bit of expenditure
at town level a good approximation is the Earley tax base as a percentage of the total tax
base. So when that is applied to the 10 year total minus the ring-fenced items associated
with the new houses you get an estimated spend of £80 million or 18% of the total 10 year
programme.
I would also like to stress that even where capital investment is made outside the area of
Earley, it will be of benefit to the residents of Earley. This may be the provision of vital road
links or the provision of school places in nearby schools.
Supplementary Question
The regeneration of Wokingham town centre was supposed to generate money that could
be spent in other areas like Earley, Woodley and Twyford to help with their regeneration.
How much profit are you expecting to get from the Wokingham town centre regeneration
that you can spend on other areas and when are you expecting to get it?
Supplementary Answer – Provided by Councillor Philip Mirfin
Very simply, the profit that will come from the town centre will be substantial enough to
support many of our critical services as we move forwards. Clearly we will be building
residential properties which will be sold and commercial properties which, hopefully, we
will be renting on a commercial basis for many years to come. It is yet to be confirmed as
to how long and where those properties will be, but you can rest assured that, first of all, it
isn’t costing a single ratepayer £1 and every £1 that comes from it in profit will be ploughed
back into those essential services, as required.
68.
PETITIONS
The following member of the public presented a petition in relation to the matter indicated.
The Mayor’s decision as to the action to be taken is set out against the petition.
Nicola Greenwood

Nicola Greenwood presented a petition of
1,203 signatures, on behalf of Wokingham
Bridleway Group, requesting that 30% of the
Borough’s Rights of Way network be
bridleway/suitable for horse rider use by 2030.

15

To be forwarded to the Executive Member for
Environment.
69.
MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Mayor informed Members of a number of visits he had made before Xmas and recent
visits to schools as part of Careers Week. The Mayor also stated that the Mayor’s Golf
Day, supporting the ARC Charity, would be held on 19 May 2016. Members were
encouraged to enter teams for the event.
70.
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN ASSOCIATED REPORTS
The Council considered four reports which together comprised a single Agenda item:





the Housing Revenue Account Budget 2016/19 as set out on Agenda pages 35 to 46;
the Capital Programme and Strategy 2016/19 as set out on Agenda pages 47 to 58;
the Treasury Management Strategy 2016/19 as set out on Agenda pages 59 to 104;
the Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/19 – Revenue Budget Submission on Agenda
pages 105 to 108, subject to the tabled statutory resolution, Updated Parish Precepts
2016/17 and Updated Council Tax by Band and Parish 2016/17.

The Mayor reminded Members that a total of 90 minutes would be set aside for debate.
Keith Baker, Leader of the Council, made a statement on the 2016/17 budget, together
with his budget proposals (attached at Appendix 1 to these Minutes).
Following his statement, Councillor Baker proposed that the recommendation under Item
66.2, Capital Programme and Strategy 2016/19, be amended as follows:
Replace the existing recommendation under 66.2 with the following:
The Council approve the Capital Programme and Strategy for 2016/19 subject to the
2017/18 and 2018/19 Capital Programme budgets for Car Park Entry/Exit Barriers being
reduced to zero pending further review.
The proposed amendment was seconded by Councillor Anthony Pollock.
The proposed amendment was put to the vote and was declared by the Mayor to have
been carried.
Councillor Baker then proposed that the recommendation under Item 66.4, Medium Term
Financial Plan (MTFP) 2016/19, be amended as follows:
Replace the existing recommendation under 66.4 with the following:
Council is recommended to approve:
1) the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2016/19, including the Revenue Budget
submission for 2016/17 subject to the following adjustments:
(a) the introduction of Transitionary Grant of £2.1m in 2016/17 and 2017/18
following the final Local Government Finance Settlement announcement;
(b) the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Capital Programme budgets for Car Park Entry/Exit
Barriers be reduced to zero pending further review;

16

(c) the provisional precept figure for Arborfield, Earley, Winnersh and Woodley to be
amended to final figures;
(d) the Royal Berkshire Fire Authority precept to be included at £4,043,906.
2) The Statutory Resolution, incorporating the above amendments, that sets out the
2016/17 Council tax levels, as set out in Appendix A to the report.
The proposed amendment was seconded by Councillor Anthony Pollock.
The proposed amendment was put to the vote (the Mayor reminded the Council that under
“The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014”
Councils were required to hold recorded votes in relation to Council Tax decisions.
Consequently, a recorded vote was taken on the proposed amendment.
FOR
Mark Ashwell
Keith Baker
Chris Bowring
Prue Bray
UllaKarin Clark
Lindsay Ferris
Michael Firmager
Mike Gore
Guy Grandison
Kate Haines
Mike Haines
Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Pauline Helliar-Symons
Tim Holton
Philip Houldsworth
John Jarvis
Norman Jorgensen
Pauline Jorgensen
John Kaiser
Dianne King
Tom McCann
Philip Mirfin
Stuart Munro
Barrie Patman
Ian Pittock
Anthony Pollock
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
Beth Rowland
Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey
David Sleight
Chris Smith
Wayne Smith
Bill Soane
Rob Stanton

AGAINST

17

ABSTAINED
Parry Batth
Bob Pitts

Alison Swaddle
Simon Weeks
Bob Wyatt
Shahid Younis
Following the recorded vote, the Mayor declared that the amendment had been carried.
Prue Bray, the Leader of the Opposition, then made her Budget statement on behalf of the
Liberal Democrat Group (attached at Appendix 2 to these Minutes).
Following her statement, Councillor Bray proposed that the substantive recommendation
under Item 66.4, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2016/19, be amended as follows:
Replace the existing recommendation under 66.4 with the following:
Council is recommended to approve:
1) the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2016/19, including the Revenue Budget
submission for 2016/17 subject to the following adjustments:
(a) the introduction of Transitionary Grant of £2.1m in 2016/17 and 2017/18
following the final Local Government Finance Settlement announcement;
(b) the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Capital Programme budgets for Car Park Entry/Exit
Barriers be reduced to zero pending further review;
(c) the provisional precept figure for Arborfield, earley, Winnersh and Woodley to
be amended to final figures;
(d) the Royal Berkshire Fire Authority precept to be included at £4,043,906;
(e) £50,000 being taken from General Fund reserves as a Special Item and added
to the Children’s services budget for one year, to fund an investigation into the
feasibility of building a collaborative arrangement with other local authorities,
primarily but not exclusively in Berkshire and across the Thames Valley, to find
new ways of commissioning and procuring children’s residential care
placements.
2) The Statutory Resolution, incorporating the above amendments, that sets out the
2016/17 Council tax levels, as set out in Appendix A to the report.
The proposed amendment was seconded by Councillor Beth Rowland.
71.
ADJOURNMENT OF THE MEETING
At 8.40pm the meeting was adjourned to allow consideration of Councillor Bray’s
amendment.
72.
RE-COMMENCEMENT OF MEETING
At 8.44pm the meeting recommenced.
73.
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN ASSOCIATED REPORTS (CONTINUED)
After debate, Councillor Bray’s proposed amendment to the substantive recommendation
under Item 66.4 was put to the vote. In accordance with the Regulations specified earlier in
the meeting a recorded vote was taken on the proposed amendment.
For
Prue Bray

Against
Mark Ashwell

Abstained
Parry Batth

18

Lindsay Ferris
Tom McCann
Beth Rowland
Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey

Keith Baker
Chris Bowring
David Chopping
UllaKarin Clark
Mike Gore
Guy Grandison
Kate Haines
Mike Haines
Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Pauline Helliar-Symons
Tim Holton
Philip Houldsworth
John Jarvis
Norman Jorgensen
Pauline Jorgensen
John Kaiser
Dianne King
Abdul Loyes
Ken Miall
Philip Mirfin
Stuart Munro
Barrie Patman
Ian Pittock
Anthony Pollock
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
David Sleight
Chris Smith
Wayne Smith
Bill Soane
Rob Stanton
Alison Swaddle
Simon Weeks
Bob Wyatt
Shahid Younis

Bob Pitts

Following the recorded vote the Mayor declared that the amendment had not been carried.
The debate on the substantive items continued.
73.1 Housing Revenue Account Budget 2016/19
It was proposed by the Leader of the Council and seconded by Councillor Anthony Pollock
that the recommendations as set out on Agenda page 35 be approved.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That
1) the Housing Revenue Account Budget be approved;
2) Council house dwelling rents be reduced by 1%, effective from 1 April 2016 in line with
the Welfare Reform and Work Bill 2015 (subject to confirmation of the statutory
starting date);

19

3) garage rents be increased by 1.1%, effective from 1 April 2016 in line with Council
fees and charges;
4) it be noted that a review of the Shared Equity rents in 2011 had determined that rents
had been kept artificially low in previous years and not increased in line with the terms
of the leases. Therefore rents for shared equity properties have been gradually
increased above inflation for four years to bring the rents in line by 1 April 2016. The
increase for 2016/17 and future years will be based on RPI and is estimated to be
approximately 1% in 2016/17;
5) Tenant Service Charges are set in line with estimated costs;
6) the Housing Major Repairs (capital) programme for 2016/17 as set out in Appendix C
be approved.
73.2 Capital Programme and Strategy 2016/19
It was proposed by the Leader of the Council and seconded by Councillor Anthony Pollock
that the Capital Programme and Strategy for 2016/19, as set out on Agenda pages 47 to
58, as amended, be approved.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That the Capital Programme and Strategy for 2016/19 be approved, subject
to the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Capital Programme budgets for Car Park Entry/Exit Barriers
being reduced to zero pending further review.
73.3 Treasury Management Strategy 2016/19
It was proposed by the Leader of the Council and seconded by Councillor Anthony Pollock
that the recommendations as set out on Agenda page 59 be approved.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That the following elements be approved:
1) the Capital Prudential Indicators for 2016/17 to 2018/19;
2) the Borrowing Strategy for 2016/17;
3) the Annual Investment Strategy for 2016/17;
4) the Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity for 2016/17;
5) the flexible use of Capital Receipts;
6) it be noted that a review of counterparties and the consideration of risk versus
return is being reviewed and will be reported back to the Executive in year for
consideration.
73.4 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2016/19
It was proposed by the Leader of the Council and seconded by Councillor Anthony Pollock
that the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2016/19, including the Revenue Budget

20

Submission for 2016/17 and the Statutory Resolution setting out the 2016/17 Council Tax
levels, as amended, be approved.
In accordance with the Regulations specified earlier in the meeting, a recorded vote was
taken on the proposed recommendations for Item 66.4 – Medium Term Financial Plan
2016/19 – Revenue Budget Submission 2016/17, as amended.
FOR
Mark Ashwell
Keith Baker
Chris Bowring
David Chopping
Michael Firmager
Mike Gore
Guy Grandison
Kate Haines
Mike Haines
Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Pauline Helliar-Symons
Tim Holton
Philip Houldsworth
John Jarvis
Norman Jorgensen
Pauline Jorgensen
John Kaiser
Dianne King
Abdul Loyes
Ken Miall
Philip Mirfin
Stuart Munro
Barrie Patman
Ian Pittock
Anthony Pollock
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
David Sleight
Chris Smith
Wayne Smith
Bill Soane
Rob Stanton
Alison Swaddle
Simon Weeks
Bob Wyatt
Shahid Younis

AGAINST
Prue Bray
Lindsay Ferris
Tom McCann
Beth Rowland
Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey

ABSTAINED
Parry Batth
Bob Pitts

RESOLVED: That
1) the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2016/19, including the Revenue Budget
Submission for 2016/17 be approved;

21

2) the Statutory Resolution that sets out the 2016/17 Council Tax levels (Appendix A) as
tabled at the meeting, be approved, and that it be noted that, at its meeting on 28th
January 2016, the Special Council Executive Committee calculated the following
amounts for the year 2016/17 in accordance with regulations made under Section 31B
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended by the Localism Act 2011
and the Local Government Finance Act 2012:
a) 66,001.4 being the amount calculated by the Council (Item T) in accordance with
Regulation 31B of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base)
Regulations 1992 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011 and the Local
Government Finance Act 2012) as its Council Tax base for the year;
b) Part of the Council’s area:
Arborfield and Newland
Barkham
Charvil
Earley
Finchampstead
Remenham
Ruscombe
St. Nicholas Hurst
Shinfield
Sonning
Swallowfield
Twyford
Wargrave
Winnersh
Wokingham
Wokingham Without
Woodley

1,260.0
1,440.6
1,399.6
11,704.0
5,665.3
317.5
497.9
1,044.2
4,780.7
806.9
995.1
2,961.5
2,085.0
3,801.3
14,294.6
3,107.1
9,840.1
----------66,001.4

being the amounts calculated by the Council, in accordance with Regulation 6 of the
Regulations, as the amounts of its Council tax base for the year for dwellings in those
parts of its area to which a Parish Precept relates;
3) the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 2016/17 (excluding
Parish Precepts) be £85,492,273 (including £1,623,991 in respect of the Adult Social
Care Precept for 2016/17 which is based on a 2% increase on the 2015/16 Council
Tax level);
4)

the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 2016/2017 in
accordance with Sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992,
amended by the Localism Act 2011 (noting, however, that the precepts shown below
for the Parishes of Arborfield and Newland, Earley, Winnersh and Woodley are
provisional and are subject to approval at the Parishes’ Annual Precept meetings
between February 10th and February 17th 2016):
(a) £292,807,692
being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates
for the items set out in Section 31A(2)(a) to (f) of the Act taking
into account all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils;
(b) (£203,581,539)
being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates

22

(c)

£89,226,153

(d)

£1,351.88

(e)

£3,733,880

for the items set out in Section 31A(3)(a) to (d) of the Act;
being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds
the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council, in
accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act, as its Council Tax
requirement for the year (Item R);
being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R), all divided by 1(a) above
(Item T), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section
31B of the Act, as the 'basic amount of its Council Tax for the
year (including Parish precepts);
being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish precepts)
referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per the table below)
2016/17

TAX
BASE

PARISH
PRECEPT
£

Arborfield and
Newland
Barkham
Charvil
Earley
Finchampstead
Remenham
Ruscombe
St. Nicholas
Hurst
Shinfield
Sonning
Swallowfield
Twyford
Wargrave
Winnersh
Wokingham
Wokingham
Without
Woodley
Total / Average

2015/16
PARISH
BAND D

TAX
BASE

£

PARISH
PRECEPT
£

PARISH
BAND D
£

Council
Tax
Change
%

1,260.0

87,866

69.73

1,259.5

86,280

68.50

1.80

1,440.6
1,399.6
11,704.0
5,665.3
317.5
497.9

42,342
39,655
778,784
123,848
22,250
10,266

29.39
28.33
66.54
21.86
70.08
20.62

1,440.1
1,392.4
11,671.1
5,653.7
317.5
495.6

38,342
39,451
747,387
122,410
21,420
9,766

26.62
28.33
64.04
21.65
67.46
19.71

10.40
0.00
3.90
0.97
3.88
4.62

1,044.2

25,035

23.98

1,039.6

22,500

21.64

10.81

4,780.7
806.9
995.1
2,961.5
2,085.0
3,801.3
14,294.6

316,950
34,700
19,108
67,798
161,465
107,801
710,990

66.30
43.00
19.20
22.89
77.44
28.36
49.74

4,621.2
805.9
957.0
2,944.0
2,078.7
3,800.7
14,042.0

277,919
34,400
18,540
58,598
154,937
107,801
665,195

60.14
42.69
19.37
19.90
74.54
28.36
47.37

10.24
0.73
(0.88)
15.02
3.89
0.00
5.00

3,107.1

145,415

46.80

3,073.3

143,925

46.83

(0.06)

9,840.1

1,039,607

105.65

9,564.9

1,010,532

105.65

0.00

66,001.4

3,733,880

56.57

65,157.2

3,559,403

54.63

3.55

f)

£1,295.31

5)

it be noted that for the year 2016/2017 the Police and Crime Commissioner for the
Thames Valley has issued a precept to the Council in accordance with Section 40 of
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the
Council's area as indicated in the table below;
the Council in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance
Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables below as the

6)

being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing
the amount at 3(e) above by the amount at 1(a) above,
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the
Act, as the basic amount of its council tax for the year for
dwellings in those parts of its area to which no special items
relates;

23

amounts of Council Tax for 2016/2017 for each part of its area and for each of the
categories of dwellings.
SUMMARY OF COUNCIL TAX 2016/2017
Valuation Bands
Wokingham
Borough
Council
Thames
Valley Police
Authority
Royal
Berkshire
Fire
Authority

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

863.54

1,007.46

1,151.39

1,295.31

1,583.16

1,871.00

2,158.85

2,590.62

111.31

129.86

148.41

166.96

204.06

241.16

278.27

333.92

40.84

47.65

54.46

61.27

74.88

88.50

102.11

122.54

Aggregate of Council Tax Requirement for each Parish and the Borough for each
part of the Council's area:A
Arborfield &
Newland

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

910.03

1,061.69

1,213.37

1,365.04

1,668.39

1,971.72

2,275.07

2,730.08

883.13

1,030.32

1,177.51

1,324.70

1,619.08

1,913.45

2,207.83

2,649.40

882.43

1,029.49

1,176.57

1,323.64

1,617.79

1,911.92

2,206.07

2,647.28

907.90

1,059.21

1,210.54

1,361.85

1,664.49

1,967.11

2,269.75

2,723.70

878.11

1,024.46

1,170.82

1,317.17

1,609.88

1,902.58

2,195.28

2,634.34

910.26

1,061.97

1,213.68

1,365.39

1,668.81

1,972.23

2,275.65

2,730.78

877.29

1,023.50

1,169.72

1,315.93

1,608.36

1,900.78

2,193.22

2,631.86

879.53

1,026.11

1,172.71

1,319.29

1,612.47

1,905.64

2,198.82

2,638.58

907.74

1,059.03

1,210.32

1,361.61

1,664.19

1,966.77

2,269.35

2,723.22

892.21

1,040.90

1,189.61

1,338.31

1,635.72

1,933.11

2,230.52

2,676.62

876.34

1,022.39

1,168.46

1,314.51

1,606.63

1,898.73

2,190.85

2,629.02

878.80

1,025.26

1,171.74

1,318.20

1,611.14

1,904.06

2,197.00

2,636.40

915.17

1,067.69

1,220.23

1,372.75

1,677.81

1,982.86

2,287.92

2,745.50

882.45

1,029.52

1,176.60

1,323.67

1,617.82

1,911.96

2,206.12

2,647.34

896.70

1,046.15

1,195.60

1,345.05

1,643.95

1,942.85

2,241.75

2,690.10

894.74

1,043.86

1,192.99

1,342.11

1,640.36

1,938.60

2,236.85

2,684.22

933.97

1,089.63

1,245.30

1,400.96

1,712.29

2,023.61

2,334.93

2,801.92

Barkham
Charvil
Earley
Finchampstead
Remenham
Ruscombe
St. Nicholas
Hurst
Shinfield
Sonning
Swallowfield
Twyford
Wargrave
Winnersh
Wokingham
Town
Wokingham
Without
Woodley

24

Aggregate of Council Tax Requirements for each part of the Council's area:
A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Arborfield &
Newland

1,062.18

1,239.20

1,416.24

1,593.27

1,947.33

2,301.38

2,655.45

3,186.54

Barkham

1,035.28

1,207.83

1,380.38

1,552.93

1,898.02

2,243.11

2,588.21

3,105.86

Charvil

1,034.58

1,207.00

1,379.44

1,551.87

1,896.73

2,241.58

2,586.45

3,103.74

Earley
Finchampstead

1,060.05

1,236.72

1,413.41

1,590.08

1,943.43

2,296.77

2,650.13

3,180.16

1,030.26

1,201.97

1,373.69

1,545.40

1,888.82

2,232.24

2,575.66

3,090.80

Remenham

1,062.41

1,239.48

1,416.55

1,593.62

1,947.75

2,301.89

2,656.03

3,187.24

Ruscombe
St. Nicholas
Hurst

1,029.44

1,201.01

1,372.59

1,544.16

1,887.30

2,230.44

2,573.60

3,088.32

1,031.68

1,203.62

1,375.58

1,547.52

1,891.41

2,235.30

2,579.20

3,095.04

Shinfield

1,059.89

1,236.54

1,413.19

1,589.84

1,943.13

2,296.43

2,649.73

3,179.68

Sonning

1,044.36

1,218.41

1,392.48

1,566.54

1,914.66

2,262.77

2,610.90

3,133.08

Swallowfield

1,028.49

1,199.90

1,371.33

1,542.74

1,885.57

2,228.39

2,571.23

3,085.48

Twyford

1,030.95

1,202.77

1,374.61

1,546.43

1,890.08

2,233.72

2,577.38

3,092.86

Wargrave

1,067.32

1,245.20

1,423.10

1,600.98

1,956.75

2,312.52

2,668.30

3,201.96

Winnersh
Wokingham
Town
Wokingham
Without

1,034.60

1,207.03

1,379.47

1,551.90

1,896.76

2,241.62

2,586.50

3,103.80

1,048.85

1,223.66

1,398.47

1,573.28

1,922.89

2,272.51

2,622.13

3,146.56

1,046.89

1,221.37

1,395.86

1,570.34

1,919.30

2,268.26

2,617.23

3,140.68

Woodley

1,086.12

1,267.14

1,448.17

1,629.19

1,991.23

2,353.27

2,715.31

3,258.38

74.
TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2015-16
The Council considered the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report for 2015/16 as set out
on Agenda pages 109 to 140. The report had been considered by the Executive earlier
and was recommended to the Council for approval.
It was proposed by the Councillor Anthony Pollock and seconded by the Leader of the
Council that the recommendations of the Executive relating to the Treasury Management
Mid-Year Report 2016/17 be approved.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That
1) the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report for 2015/16 be approved;
2) the actual 2015/16 Prudential Indicators within the report be noted.
75.
COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW
The Council considered a report, set out on Agenda pages 141 to 154, relating to a
request from Wokingham Town Council for a Community Governance Review.
Wokingham Town Council had requested modification of the existing Town Council

25

boundary to encompass the whole of the South Wokingham Strategic Development
Location and an adjustment of the seats in Town Council Wards to reflect the population
changes resulting from the new housing development.
Councillor Prue Bray commented that, as a result of new development, other parts of the
Borough such as Arborfield, Barkham, Finchampstead and, possibly, Shinfield may also
require reviews to take place in due course.
It was proposed by Councillor Pauline Jorgensen and seconded by the Leader of the
Council that the proposed Community Governance Review be carried out.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That
1) a Community Governance Review be initiated;
2) the proposed Terms of Reference for the review, as set out in Appendix 1 to the
report, be agreed.
76.
TIMETABLE OF MEETINGS 2016/17
The Council considered the proposed Timetable of Meetings for the 2016/17 Municipal
Year as set out on Agenda page 155.
It was proposed by the Leader of the Council and seconded by Councillor Anthony Pollock
that the 2016/17 Timetable of Meetings be approved.
Councillor Prue Bray stated that the Liberal Democrat Group supported an additional
meeting of the Council to be held in January each year. Councillor Bray also suggested
that, if possible, Council meetings should not be held in the week of school holidays.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That the Timetable of Meetings for the 2016/17 Municipal Year, as set out in
the Agenda, be approved.

26

Appendix 1
Councillor Keith Baker – Budget Speech
Setting this year’s budget has been like sitting on a financial rollercoaster. In the end we
had 3 different financial settlements which we had to work with – one bad, one even
worse, and one slightly better but with much room for improvement. The officers and my
fellow Executive Members have worked extremely hard on getting to this final budget.
They have had to be extremely flexible as the financial landscape changed. I would like to
personally thank them all for their supreme efforts.
It has been an interesting year where for the very first time we embarked on a resident
engagement programme specifically on our financial position. This engagement consisted
of a number of events across the borough where the Chief Financial Officer would first
“paint the picture” of our financial situation. Afterwards Executive Members and Directors
engaged in individual conversations with those who attended. It was extremely helpful and
the feedback from those who attended was extremely positive. As it was the first time we
had ever embarked on such an endeavour, it was inevitable that we wouldn’t get
everything right but we have already learnt many lessons from it which will be incorporated
into next year’s events.
As you know, out of 383 councils we are the lowest funded authority in the country and we
will continue to be in that position right through to 2019/20, and probably beyond. In
2015/16 73% of our Core Spending came from the residents in the form of Council Tax
payments. By 2019/20, which is the end of the 4 year settlement, 91% of our core
spending will come from our residents Council Tax payments. In contrast the figures for
Reading are 55% of Council Tax payments in 2015/16 increasing to 70% in 2019/20. In
absolute terms, by 2019/20 Reading will receive £32M, whilst Wokingham Borough will get
just £7M.
This council has always believed in “doing their bit” to achieve the Government’s goal of a
country living within its means, and we have always expected to be virtually self-funding
sometime in the future. Unfortunately with the initial settlement almost all councils were
surprised at the front loading of the government cuts within the 4 year settlement. For
example, we had planned for a reduction in the Revenue Support Grant of a third but it has
ended up being reduced by half and removed altogether in 2018/19.
I joined all the leaders of the Berkshire Authorities in a face to face meeting with the
Minister to lobby for a change in that front loading. At the same time our 4 MP’s made
representations on our behalf. The most active of them, John Redwood, had several
meetings with the Secretary of State putting across this timing issue. I would like to
publicly thank John on behalf of our residents for all his efforts on this matter. The
Government listened to our case and took on board our arguments. As a result, the
Government recently announced the final settlement which did not change any of the grant
reductions but did provide a one-off transitional payment for the next two years. This
transitional payment provides a breathing space for this council to plan how they are going
to cope with the planned reductions in the government grants which, remember, have not
changed at all.

27

Whilst we welcome the transitional payment it is important to note that it is not there after
the second year. Why is this important? Well our services have to be funded for every
single year. So if you use this payment to directly fund services they will have to be
replaced when this payment is removed. That means either more cuts or increased
income or a mixture of both. That figure over these 4 years is £36 million. With the 4 year
settlement in place we can start looking beyond the next year with some degree of
certainty about what we need to do to balance the books.
Later on you will hear from my fellow Executives the details of our achievements over the
past year on a tightened budget, as well as our future plans to ensure that our Borough
remains one of the best places to live and work in the country. Over the last 5 years we
have made savings of £31M and our budget for this year includes making additional
savings of £10M. Those savings are primarily made up of a reduction in grant of £6.3M
and a growth in Health & Wellbeing demand (mainly Adult Social Care) of £2.4M.
Combined they are 86% of that £10M savings.
All achieved without any cuts to essential services for next year. This is a testament to the
ongoing efficiency and careful financial management of the Council by a committed
Conservative administration and committed officers.
But what of the capital investments? A total of £85m which will add to the £56m carried
forward from this year making a total of £141m in 2016/17. These will be funded by
developer contributions or by borrowings that will be more than repaid in future years. We
all know about the investments in Wokingham Town Centre. These investments will
provide much needed income through rents which will be part of the financial package
required to balance future budgets and invest in other parts of the Borough. I note that the
Liberal Democrats want to cut this investment so I am looking forward to their alternative
budget. I wonder where in their alternative budget they say how they are going to replace
the estimated £2.5M of annual income from regeneration of the town centre.
But we also continue to invest in town and villages across the borough. Here are just a few
of those investments. Fosters in Woodley will provide much needed care facilities; A new
community hub including a library in Twyford is progressing; Expansion of primary schools
in Earley; New affordable housing in Woodley; A new play area in Earley which fully
integrates children with special needs with mainstream children; new allotments in Earley;
The regeneration of the North End of Woodley Town Centre; And of course all areas will
benefit from borough wide activities such as road maintenance and street light
replacement. It shows the ambition the Council has for regenerating the borough and our
innovative ways of generating Capital funding.
Our companies continue to grow and mature. Optalis is the most advanced of them now
beginning to win various contracts outside of the borough ranging from consultancy on
how to set up such a company through to providing services. With our neighbouring
councils suffering similar financial pressure, they are increasingly engaging in a dialogue
with Optalis. They have also been delivering savings of £900K over the past 4 years.
These companies were the brainchild of my predecessor, David Lee, who should be
congratulated on having such a vision when all around him, especially our Opposition,
were saying it could not work! Thank you David.
Whilst you will be hearing from each of the Executive Members on their areas I wanted to
highlight a few key projects in Children Services. Every one of us are Corporate Parents to
the Boroughs Children and without exception we take that role extremely seriously.

28

We are making an increasing Investment in our programme to tackle Child Sexual
Exploitation. This is an area that I have worked closely on with Charlotte. The work that we
and our partners have already completed was recognised in the recent Ofsted inspection.
But more needs to be done. We must continue to be vigilant to the differing types of
complex exploitation that is happening in our borough and around the country. One step is
to invest in a Multi-agency safeguarding hub here in Wokingham which is a great step to
sharing intelligence and fighting this abhorrent crime.
Members from Earley, Woodley and the South West know that there is an increasing
demand for places in our primary schools. This need will be addressed by extensions to
existing schools.
Some of you know I am a long standing Governor at Addington Special Needs School so I
am extremely pleased that a new ASD provision is planned with its planning application
now submitted. Bridges in Woodley is one of the very best facilities for children of 8 years
and above with disabilities for Short Breaks. Last year they were again graded outstanding
by Ofsted at Christmas. This is several years in a row. My thanks to all the staff for such
an amazing achievement again!
When you read the newspapers or watch TV you often hear about councils cuts to things
like Children Centres. Well we continue to fund our early help services including the
targeted Youth service, parenting support, our children’s centres and our early help hub.
These are all leading to better outcomes for our families by making earlier interventions.
This is indeed an ambitious, bold and achievable budget. And none of it would have been
possible if we hadn’t kept our finances under control and the books balanced. We owe it to
our residents to invest in our community and help them steer out of financial difficulties to a
more prosperous and brighter future.
Each year it is getting harder and harder to keep the council tax low but we will continue to
do this to the best of our ability. What we won’t do is engage in a trade-off with our
services for lower Council Tax for the sake of a cheap headline. Our residents deserve
better than that. These are difficult times for everyone in the country but I have every
confidence in my Executive, fellow Councillors and officers to put in the effort to get this
council into a financial position we need to be in 2019/20.
Oh and did I tell you we are the lowest funded authority in the country. Thank you.

29

Appendix 2

Councillor Prue Bray – Budget Speech
I would like to thank officers for their assistance with answering our questions in the past
week, which is all the time we have had to prepare for this meeting. The Conservatives like
to make it hard for us to scrutinise the budget properly. You will be glad to know that as
usual we have risen to the challenge.
In May I will have been a Councillor for 16 years. This is the 16th year I have been through
the council budget. I cannot remember ever in those 16 budgets celebrating Wokingham
getting good financial support from the government. We have always had to rely heavily
on what we can raise from Council Tax. However, never before has a government
announced not just a cut to what government pays councils in grant but an intention to
reverse the flow so that councils pay grant to the government instead in future.
Something else that is new this year is that this is my first budget meeting under a
Conservative-only government. And yes, those two things – an onslaught on council
funding and a Conservative-only government - are connected.
The Conservatives on this council cannot blame others for a 3.94% increase in Council
Tax and a vice-like financial squeeze here in Wokingham. They have got exactly what
they not only wanted, but what they actively went out and campaigned to get: a
Conservative majority government which can do exactly as it likes unfettered by the Lib
Dems. And it is doing exactly as it likes, and as the last majority Conservative government
liked too: slashing and burning local government, privatising public services, damaging
education, killing the NHS, punishing the poor and the vulnerable, and decimating social
housing.
It is social housing, and the Housing Revenue Account, that I want to talk about next. I
want to highlight three things the Conservative government is doing which are going to
affect this council’s finances badly.
First, the government has arbitrarily forced councils to reduce council house rents by 1%.
Great if you are a tenant, not so great if you are a landlord. This change reduces the
money available in the Housing Revenue Account for maintenance and future major
projects, so it harms the poor, Anthony, by not allowing us to maintain their houses for
them.
Second, the government is going to grab our money. Each year some council houses
become temporarily empty as tenants change over. If the government decides such a
house is “high value”, as most of ours are likely to be, it will expect the council to sell it and
give the government the money. If the council doesn’t sell the house, it will still have to

30

give the money to the government. This is not in the Housing Revenue Account yet, as
the Housing and Planning Bill is still going through Parliament.
Third, the government wants developers to build so-called “starter homes” for sale to
satisfy the requirement for affordable housing, instead of housing association homes for
rent or shared equity. This is a direct threat to the affordable housing commuted sums
income anticipated to come to the council, worth £18.5 million in the next 3 years alone.
If the Bill becomes an Act without major changes, not only will next year’s Housing
Revenue Account be appallingly squeezed but the Wokingham Housing Limited and
affordable housing parts of the capital programme will have to be completely rewritten.
One of them has been rewritten tonight by taking out £3m for a project on car park barriers
which we are pleased to see the back of. £250k for looking at it is a reasonable figure and
that is still there, but £3m for doing it. I don’t think so. I am very glad that we have just
voted to remove it.
The other thing which I do wish would be rewritten is the regeneration of Wokingham town
centre. I have spoken many times about this. This is a regeneration which is supposed to
make a profit which can be spent on other areas, until Philip said tonight that it wasn’t, it
was going to be spent on services. I think he said that in answer to a question. In the next
3 years there is no projected profit at all. All the regeneration will generate is a net extra
debt of £46.789 million. I was slightly surprised, and, Keith, you may wish to tell me that I
was wrong, but I think you just said that £2.5m was going to be made out of it. So, I am a
bit confused, as there is nothing in the Medium term Financial Plan which says that.
Let’s move from capital to revenue. Adult social care is clearly an area of critical concern
because of rising numbers of people needing help. The move to integrate the delivery of
some care services with the NHS will help with the cost containment – but the council does
need to get that integration moving more quickly than it is.
In a different sort of integration, the council has a number of services shared with other
councils now, something which we have encouraged as a way of providing resilience and
containing cost. There is still scope to do more in that direction – and to be more
imaginative about it. And that brings me to my final point.
There are a relatively small number of children requiring residential care, but they have
increasingly complex needs. One additional child can result in an additional cost of over
£200,000. Last February the budget for children’s residential care was reduced, but the
saving could not be achieved. The budget is overspent and money has had to be added
back in.
The council has no option but to arrange residential placements for children who need
them. With small numbers of such children, Wokingham is never going to be able to exert
much influence on providers. We are not the only council in this position. So, in the same
spirit in which we have in the past urged you to consider more shared services as a way of

31

promoting resilience and reducing costs, without reducing quality, we are proposing an
amendment to the budget, as follows:
To amend the Medium Term Financial Plan to take £50,000 from General Fund reserves
as a Special Item added to the Children’s Services budget for one year, to fund an
investigation into the feasibility of building a collaborative arrangement with other local
authorities, primarily, but not exclusively, in Berkshire and across the Thames Valley, to
find new ways of commissioning and procuring children’s residential care placements.
Until last week you were expecting to have to take nearly £2 million out of reserves, but
the transitional funding has plugged that gap with a small amount to spare. Let’s use a
tiny part of that unforeseen income to look to the future and see if we can set up
something with other nearby councils to look at children’s residential placements.
Individually, councils in the Thames Valley do not have the breathing space to think about
models of commissioning and delivery. We would be, to coin a phrase, better together.
Among the things that could be looked at would be joint commissioning to get the best
prices, and even setting up a jointly owned company to deliver residential care – drawing
its inspiration from the Optalis model. It must be worth investing £50,000 now to try to
achieve the prize of long term savings, resilience and quality of service. I urge you to vote
for this amendment.

32

Agenda Item 76.
TITLE

Proposed Land Drainage Byelaws

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 24 March 2016

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Heather Thwaites, Director of Environment

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
The proposed land drainage byelaws are essential for the regulation, management and
enforcement of the Council’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) and,
which if made and confirmed following the formal public inspection process, will assist
the Council in carrying out its duties as a Highway Authority under the Highways Act
1980 and Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) under the Flood and Water Management
Act 2010. The byelaws will benefit the community by increasing the Council’s ability to
carry out its duties to effectively reduce flood risk in the borough.
RECOMMENDATION
That Council:
1)
formally resolve to adopt the proposed land drainage byelaws as set out in
Appendix 1 to the report;
2)

authorise the sealing thereof and approve carrying out the public consultation
phase;

3)

submit the proposed byelaws together with any unresolved objections received
thereto to the Secretary of State for confirmation.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 2010) amended Section 66 of the
Land Drainage Act 1991 to allow local authorities to make land drainage byelaws. These
byelaws create criminal offences which can be prosecuted in the Magistrates’ Courts.
The Council is now intending to use its powers to make these byelaws to help carry out
its duties effectively and in doing so assist with reducing flood risk for local communities.
The proposed byelaws for Wokingham (as set out in Appendix 1of this report) are based
on the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) set of model Land
Drainage Byelaws, which are broadly similar to the byelaws which have been used for
many years by the Environment Agency (EA). They regulate matters such as changes
to flows in watercourses, obstructions, vegetation, damage to river banks and others
which will be of help to the Council in carrying out its duties as Highway Authority and
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA).

33

Background
1. Flooding is a serious issue in Wokingham, as has been demonstrated in recent
years. Over the past decade, Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) has been
required to respond to a number of flooding events which have affected various
communities. The Council works closely with other agencies and Risk
Management Authorities (RMA’s) to respond to major events and WBC flood risk
officers are continuously working with communities across the borough to reduce
flood risk.
2. Following the major floods in 2007, the Government set up the Pitt Review which
led to the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 2010). This
transferred ordinary watercourse regulation powers from the Environment
Agency (EA) to Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFAs). The 2010 Act amended
Section 66 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 and gave local authorities the power to
make land drainage byelaws for the purpose of preventing flooding or remedying
or mitigating any damage caused by flooding. These byelaws also create criminal
offences which can be prosecuted in the Magistrates’ Courts. It is proposed that
the Council should use its powers to make the byelaws as set out in Appendix 1
to help it carry out its duties effectively and in doing so assist with reducing of
flood risk for local communities.
3. It is considered that the making of specific byelaws would give WBC control over
a wider area outside of the ditch line and extending up to 8m from the top of the
bank. Not only would this have clear benefits in terms of protecting the natural
floodplain of smaller watercourse and ditches but it would also assist with
providing a ‘buffer zone’ for biodiversity.
Proposed Byelaws
4. The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 allows local authorities to make
byelaws for the following purposes:





To secure the efficient working of a drainage system in the local
authority’s area.
To regulate the effects of a drainage system on the environment.
To secure the effectiveness of flood risk management work.
To secure the effectiveness of works done in reliance on section 38-39 of
the 2010 Act concerning incidental flooding.

5. The proposed byelaws for Wokingham are based on the Department for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) set of model land drainage byelaws,
which are broadly similar to the byelaws which have been used for many years
by the EA on main rivers. WBC proposed land drainage byelaws would apply to
all other ordinary watercourses that the EA’s byelaws do not apply to. They cover
matters such as changes to flows in watercourses, obstructions, vegetation,
damage to river banks and other issues which will be of help to the Council in
carrying out its duties as Highway and Lead Local Flood Authority.
6. With regard to byelaw number 8 ‘No obstructions within 8 metres of the
watercourse’, the guidance recommends that the maximum distance from the top

34

of the banks that would be covered by the byelaw is 9 metres. Defra have
advised that anything above would be a special case and Wokingham would
need to supply technical data to support the case. Many Councils have found a
lesser distance to be adequate, however given that much of the Borough’s ditch
network is situated within rural areas and is on the whole likely to have close
proximity to valuable hedgerows; officers believe that a margin of 8 metres would
be justifiable. The 8 metre margin is cited in the EA Thames Region byelaws and
Wokingham would therefore by consistent with this.
7. There are a number of stages to the process of making byelaws which are set
out below:
(i)
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The proposed draft byelaws are forwarded to Defra for informal review.
Natural England and the Local Navigational Authority (the only Local
Navigational Authority that exists in Wokingham is the EA for the River
Thames) are consulted on the draft byelaws.
Having considered any responses received by Defra, Natural England,
and the Local Navigational Authority, the Council needs to make the
decision as to whether to formally adopt the proposed byelaws under the
common seal. Under the Council’s constitution this decision is reserved for
Full Council.
If the Council formally resolves to adopt the draft land drainage byelaws a
process of public consultation follows whereby the draft byelaws are
made, sealed and deposited for public inspection for at least one month.
Officers have decided that WBC should have a 6 week consultation period
so that Town and Parish Councils have time to discuss the proposed
byelaws at their monthly meetings. The Council must also advertise its
intent to implement the land drainage byelaws in one or more newspapers
and also on the Councils website. During this time, the Council must have
a copy of the draft byelaws available for public inspection in the Council
offices and must also provide a copy to anyone who asks for one. If any
objections are received, the Council will be expected, where possible, to
resolve the objections directly with the objector.
Following closure of the public consultation, the byelaws are submitted
together with any unresolved objections to the Secretary of State for
confirmation. The byelaws cannot come into operation until they are
confirmed by the Secretary of State.

8. WBC has already received informal approval of the proposed land drainage
byelaws from Defra. So far, no response has been received from the Local
Navigational Authority. Natural England has responded as followed:
“Natural England does not consider that this drainage byelaws consultation
poses any likely or significant risk to those features of the natural environment for
which we would otherwise provide a more detailed consultation response and so
does not wish to make specific comment on the details of this consultation.”
Benefits
9. The making of the byelaws would help the Council to carry out its duties
effectively and would assist with reducing flood risk for local communities. Not
making the byelaws would mean that the Council would be missing an

35

opportunity to take pre-emptive action to reduce flood risk in some
circumstances. The proposed byelaws follow the Defra model byelaws although
some amendments have been made to make them specific to Wokingham’s
needs.
10. With regard to development, the proposed land drainage byelaws will give the
Council the power to prevent any obstructions from being built within 8 metres of
the bank of a watercourse. At the moment WBC as LLFA is a statutory consultee
on flood and drainage issues for new developments. The proposed byelaws
would provide extra support for the comments provided by the LLFA on planning
applications whilst also providing effective enforcement powers to deal with
unauthorised activities in the vicinity of watercourses which can lead to flooding
incidents.
Legal Implications
11. The byelaws are a form of delegated legislation whose operation is usually
restricted in order to control or regulate activities in certain places. The
enforcement of the proposed land drainage byelaws will be undertaken for the
purpose of securing appropriate management of flood risk in Wokingham. The
byelaws are made under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, Land
Drainage Act 1991 and the Local Government Act 1972. Section 236 of the Local
Government Act 1972 sets out the legal requirements for making byelaws.
12. The byelaws will also create criminal offences which can be prosecuted in the
Magistrates’ Courts by way of a fine.
Resource Implications
13. It is anticipated that the majority of issues that arise will be resolved through
negotiation and informal action, the costs of which will be borne through existing
budgets. However, there would be more significant staff resource implications if
enforcement progresses through to a stage where prosecution action is taken
against offenders, when all other avenues have been exhausted.
Conclusion
14. The proposed byelaws will assist the Council in carrying out its duties as Lead
Local Flood Authority under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. The
making of the byelaws is not mandatory but it is seen as a key element at a
tactical level to deliver flood risk management. Without the byelaws, the
application of the consenting and enforcing powers and duties is very difficult.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)

Approximately
£500 will spent on
advertising the

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

36

Revenue or
Capital?
Revenue

Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

byelaws
£0

£0

n/a

£0

£0

n/a

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
There is a potential for legal costs to arise as a result of any future prosecution under
the proposed byelaws. At this stage, this is an unknown quantity, but it is a factor that
would need to be monitored and managed if the byelaws are adopted.
In the event of a breach of the byelaws, the Council will take a decision about
expediency of enforcement. This involves a cost benefit assessment relative to the level
of harm resulting. Enforcement through the courts has resource implications for the
Council.
Cross-Council Implications
n/a
List of Background Papers
Flood and Water Management Act 2010
Land Drainage Act 1991
Contact Francesca Hobson
Telephone No 0118 9746569

Service Highways and Transport
Email
Francesca.hobson@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Date 14 March 2016

37

Appendix 1

Draft Wokingham Land Drainage Byelaws
Contents
1. Commencement of Byelaws ..............................................................................................................7
2. Application of Byelaws .....................................................................................................................7
3. Control of Introduction of Water and Increase in Flow or Volume of Water ...................................7
4. Control of Sluices etc ........................................................................................................................7
5. Diversion or Stopping up of Watercourses .......................................................................................7
6. Detrimental Substances not to be Put into Watercourses ..................................................................8
7. Notice to Cut Vegetation ...................................................................................................................8
8. No Obstructions within 8 Metres of the Edge of the Watercourse ....................................................8
9. Repairs to Buildings ..........................................................................................................................8
10. Control of Vermin ...........................................................................................................................8
11. Damage by Animals to Banks .........................................................................................................9
12. Vehicles not to be Driven on Banks ................................................................................................9
13. Banks not to be Used for Storage ....................................................................................................9
14. Not to Dredge or Raise Gravel, Sand etc ........................................................................................9
15. Fences, Excavations, Pipes etc ........................................................................................................9
16. Interference with Sluices .............................................................................................................. 10
17. Damage to Property of the Council .............................................................................................. 10
18. Defacement of Notice Boards ...................................................................................................... 10
19. Obstruction of the Council and Officers ...................................................................................... 10
20. Savings for Other Bodies ............................................................................................................. 10
21. Saving for Crown Lands............................................................................................................... 11
22. Arbitration .................................................................................................................................... 11
23. Notices .......................................................................................................................................... 12
24. Limitation ..................................................................................................................................... 12
25. Interpretation ................................................................................................................................ 13

Common Seal
Penalty Note

38

Wokingham Borough Council under and by virtue of the powers and authority vested in them by
section 66 of the Land Drainage Act 1991, do hereby make the following Byelaws which are
considered necessary for [one or more of] the following purposes:a) securing the efficient working of a drainage system in the Council’s area,
b) regulating the effects on the environment in the Council’s area of a drainage system,
c) securing the effectiveness of flood risk management work within the meaning of
section 14A of that Act, or
d) securing the effectiveness of works done in reliance on section 38 or 39 of the Flood
And Water Management Act 2010 (incidental flooding or coastal erosion),
together, “the Purposes”;1. Commencement of Byelaws

These Byelaws shall come into operation at the expiration of one month beginning with the day
on which they are confirmed by the Secretary of State.
2. Application of Byelaws

(a) These Byelaws shall have effect within the Area;
(b) the watercourses referred to in these Byelaws are watercourses which are for the time being
vested in or under the control of the Council.
3. Control of Introduction of Water and Increase in Flow or Volume of Water

No person shall as a result of development (within the meaning of section 55 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended (“the 1990 Act”)) (whether or not such development is
authorised by the 1990 Act or any regulation or order whatsoever or none of them) for any
purpose by means of any channel, siphon, pipeline or sluice or by any other means whatsoever
introduce any water into any watercourse in the Area so as to directly or indirectly increase the
flow or volume of water in any watercourse in the Area (without the previous consent of the
Council).
4. Control of Sluices etc

Any person having control of any sluice, water control structure or appliance for introducing
water into any watercourse in the Area or for controlling or regulating or affecting the flow of
water in, into or out of any watercourse shall use and maintain such sluice, water control
structure or appliance in accordance with such reasonable directions as may from time to time be
given by the Council with a view to securing or furthering one or more of the Purposes.
5. Diversion or Stopping up of Watercourses

No person shall, without the previous consent of the Council, take any action, or knowingly
permit or aid or abet any person to take any action to stop up any watercourse or divert or
impede or alter the level of or direction of the flow of water in, into or out of any watercourse.

39

6. Detrimental Substances not to be Put into Watercourses

No person shall, so as directly or indirectly to obstruct, impede or interfere with the flow of
water in, into or out of any watercourse or so as to damage the bank (a) discharge or put or cause or permit to be discharged or put or negligently or wilfully
cause or permit to fall into any watercourse any object or matter of any kind whatsoever
whether solid or liquid;
(b) allow any such object or matter as is referred to in sub-paragraph (a) of this Byelaw to
remain in proximity to any watercourse in such manner as to render the same liable to
drift or fall or be carried into any watercourse. Provided that nothing in this Byelaw shall
be deemed to render unlawful the growing or harvesting of crops in accordance with
normal agricultural practice.
7. Notice to Cut Vegetation

Any person having control of any watercourse shall, upon the receipt of a notice served on him
by the Council requiring him so to do, cut down and keep cut down all vegetation, including
trees, growing in or on the bank of a watercourse, within such reasonable time as may be
specified in the notice, and shall remove such vegetation, including trees, from the watercourse
immediately after the cutting thereof.
Provided that, where a hedge is growing on the bank of a watercourse, nothing in this Byelaw
shall require more than the pruning of the hedge so as to prevent it from growing over or into the
watercourse, and the removal of the resultant cuttings.
8. No Obstructions within 8 Metres of the Edge of the Watercourse

No person without the previous consent of the Council shall erect any building or structure,
whether temporary or permanent, or plant any tree, shrub, willow or other similar growth within
8 metres of the landward toe of the bank where there is an embankment or wall or within 8
metres of the top of the batter where there is no embankment or wall, or where the watercourse is
enclosed within 8 metres of the enclosing structure.
9. Repairs to Buildings

The owner of any building or structure in or over a watercourse or on the banks thereof shall,
upon receipt of a notice from the Council that because of its state of disrepair (a) the building or structure is causing or is in imminent danger of causing an obstruction
to the flow of the watercourse;
(b) the building or structure is causing or is in imminent danger of causing damage to the
bank of the watercourse, carry out such reasonable and practicable works as are specified
in the notice for the purpose of remedying or preventing the obstruction or damage as the
case may be within such reasonable time as is specified in the notice.
10. Control of Vermin

The occupier of any bank of a watercourse or any part thereof shall, upon being required by the
Council by notice, within such reasonable time as may therein be specified, take such steps as
are specified in the notice, being such steps as the Council consider necessary and practicable for

40

preventing the bank from becoming infested by rabbits, rats, coypu, foxes and moles or any other
wild mammal not being an animal listed in Schedule 5 or Schedule 6 to the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981, but excluding the water vole from such control.
11. Damage by Animals to Banks

All persons using or causing or permitting to be used any bank of any watercourse for the
purpose of grazing or keeping any animal thereon shall take such steps including fencing as are
necessary and reasonably practicable and shall comply with such reasonable directions as may
from time to time be given by the Council to prevent the bank or the channel of the watercourse
from being damaged by such use. Provided that nothing in this Byelaw shall be deemed to affect
or prevent the use of, for the purpose of enabling animals to drink at it, any place made or to be
made or constructed as approved by the Council.
12. Vehicles not to be Driven on Banks

No person shall use or drive or permit or cause to be used or driven any cart, vehicle or
implement of any kind whatsoever on, over or along any bank of a watercourse in such manner
as to cause damage to such bank.
13. Banks not to be Used for Storage

No person shall use or cause or permit to be used any bank of any watercourse for the purpose of
depositing or stacking or storing or keeping any rubbish or goods or any material or things
thereon in such a manner as by reason of the weight, volume or nature of such rubbish, goods,
material or things causes or is likely to cause damage to or endanger the stability of the bank or
channel of the watercourse or interfere with the operations or access of the Council or the right
of the Council to deposit spoil on the bank of the watercourse.
14. Not to Dredge or Raise Gravel, Sand etc

No person shall without the previous consent of the Council dredge or raise or take or cause or
permit to be dredged or raised or taken any gravel, sand, ballast, clay or other material from the
bed or bank of any watercourse.
15. Fences, Excavations, Pipes etc

No person shall without the previous consent of the Council (a) place or affix or cause or permit to be placed or affixed any gas or water main or any
pipe or appliance whatsoever or any electrical main or cable or wire in, under or over any
watercourse or in, over or through any bank of any watercourse;
(b) cut, pare, damage or remove or cause or permit to be cut, pared, damaged or removed
any turf forming part of any bank of any watercourse, or dig for or remove or cause or
permit to be dug for or removed any stone, gravel, clay, earth, timber or other material
whatsoever forming part of any bank of any watercourse or do or cause or permit to be
done anything in, to or upon such bank or any land adjoining such bank of such a nature
as to cause damage to or endanger the stability of the bank;
(c) make or cut or cause or permit to be made or cut any excavation or any tunnel or any
drain, culvert or other passage for water in, into or out of any watercourse or in or
through any bank of any watercourse;

41

(d) erect or construct or cause or permit to be erected or constructed any fence, post,
pylon, wall, wharf, jetty, pier, quay, bridge, loading stage, piling, groyne, revetment or
any other building or structure whatsoever in, over or across any watercourse or in or on
any bank thereof;
(e) place or fix or cause or permit to be placed or fixed any engine or mechanical
contrivance whatsoever in, under or over any watercourse or in, over or on any bank of
any watercourse in such a manner or for such length of time as to cause damage to the
watercourse or banks thereof or obstruct the flow of water in, into or out of such
watercourse.
Provided that this Byelaw shall not apply to any temporary work executed in an emergency but a
person executing any work so excepted shall, as soon as practicable, inform the Council in
writing of the execution and of the circumstances in which it was executed and comply with any
reasonable directions the Council may give with regard thereto.
16. Interference with Sluices

No person shall without lawful authority interfere with any sluice, or other water control
structure or appliance for controlling or regulating the flow of water in, into or out of a
watercourse.
17. Damage to Property of the Council

No person shall interfere with or damage any bank, bridge, building, structure, appliance or other
property of or under the control of the Council.
18. Defacement of Notice Boards

No person shall deface or remove any notice Board, notice or placard put up by the Council.
19. Obstruction of the Council and Officers

No person shall obstruct or interfere with any member, officer, agent or servant of the Council
exercising any of his functions under the Act or these Byelaws.
20. Savings for Other Bodies

Nothing in these Byelaws shall (a) conflict with or interfere with the operation of any Byelaw made by the Environment
Agency or an internal drainage board or of any navigation, harbour or conservancy
authority but no person shall be liable to more than one penalty or in the case of a
continuing offence more than one daily penalty in respect of the same offence;
(b) restrict, prevent, interfere with or prejudice the exercise of any statutory rights or
powers which are now or hereafter may be vested in or exercised by (i) any public utility undertaking carried on by a local authority under any Act or
under any Order having the force of an Act;
(ii) the undertakings of the Environment Agency and of any water undertaker or
sewerage undertaker;

42

(iii) any public gas transporter within the meaning of part I of the Gas Act 1986;
(iv) any navigation, harbour or conservancy authority;
(v) any person who acts as the operator of a relevant railway asset, with respect to
the construction, use or maintenance and repair of any such asset, or the free,
uninterrupted and safe use of any such asset and the traffic (including passengers)
thereof;
(vi) any local authority;
(vii) any highway authority for the purposes of the Highways Act 1980 (as
amended by any subsequent enactment) in relation to any highway whether or not
maintainable at public expense;
(viii) any undertaking engaged in the operation of a telecommunications system;
(ix) a relevant airport operator within the meaning of Part V of the Airports Act
1986;
(x) the Civil Aviation Authority and any subsidiary thereof;
(xi) the Canal and River Trust;
(xii) the Coal Authority;
(c) restrict, prevent, interfere with or prejudice any right of a highway authority to
introduce into any watercourse surface water from a highway, for which it is the highway
authority;
(d) restrict, prevent, interfere with or prejudice any right of a licence holder within the
meaning of Part I of the Electricity Act 1989 to do anything authorised by that licence or
anything reasonably necessary for that purpose;
(e) affect any liability arising otherwise than under or by reason of these Byelaws.
21. Saving for Crown Lands

Nothing in these Byelaws shall operate to prevent the removal of any substance on, in or under
(or the erection of any structure, building or machinery or any cable, wire or pipe on, over or
under) lands belonging to Her Majesty in right of the Crown by any person thereunto authorised
by the Crown Estate Commissioners.
22. Arbitration

(a) Where by or under any of these Byelaws any person is required by a notice in writing
given by the Council to do any work to the satisfaction of the Council or to comply with
any directions of the Council, he may within 21 days after the service of such notice on
him give to the Council a counter-notice in writing objecting to either the reasonableness
of or the necessity for such requirement or directions, and in default of agreement
between such person and the Council the dispute shall, when the person upon whom such
notice was served is a drainage or local authority be referred to the Secretary of State
whose decision shall be final, and in any other case shall be referred to the arbitration of a

43

single arbitrator to be appointed in default of agreement by the President of the Institution
of Civil Engineers on the application of either party. Where such a counter-notice has
been given to the Council the operation of the notice shall be suspended until either
agreement has been reached or the dispute has been determined by arbitration in
accordance with the provisions of this Byelaw;
(b) where by or under these Byelaws any person is required by a notice in writing given
by the Council to do any work to the satisfaction of the Council or to comply with any
directions of the Council and any dispute subsequently arises as to whether such work
has been executed or such directions have been complied with, such dispute if it arises
between a drainage authority or local authority and the Council shall be referred to the
Secretary of State whose decision shall be final, and in any other case shall be referred to
the arbitration of a single arbitrator to be appointed in default of agreement by the
President of the Institution of Civil Engineers on the application of either party;
(c) where by or under Byelaws 3, 6, 10, 16 or 17 any person is required to refrain from
doing any act without the consent of the Council such consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld and may be either unconditional or subject to such reasonable conditions as the
Council may consider appropriate and where any dispute arises as to whether in such a
case the consent of the Council is being unreasonably withheld, or as to whether any
conditions subject to which consent is granted are unreasonable, such dispute shall if it
arises between a drainage authority or local authority and the Council be referred to the
Secretary of State whose decision shall be final, and in any other case such dispute shall
be referred to the arbitration of a single arbitrator to be appointed in default of agreement
by the President of the Institution of Civil Engineers on the application of either party.
23. Notices

Notices and any other documents required or authorised to be served or given under or by virtue
of these byelaws shall be served or given in the manner prescribed by section 71 of the Act.
24. Limitation

(a) Nothing in these Byelaws shall authorise the Council to require any person to do any
act, the doing of which is not necessary for securing or furthering one or more of the
Purposes, or to refrain from doing any act, the doing of which does not affect the
environment, or adversely affect either
(i) the efficient working of the drainage system of the area (ii)the effectiveness of
flood risk management work within the meaning of section 14A of the Land
Drainage Act 1991, or
(iii) the effectiveness of works done in reliance on section 38 or 39 of the Flood
and Water Management Act 2010.
(b) If any conflict arises between these Byelaws and
(i) sections 61A to E of the Land Drainage Act 1991 (which relates to the
Council’s duties with respect to the environment), or
(ii) the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
The said Act and the said Regulations shall prevail.

44

25. Interpretation

In these Byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the
meaning hereby respectively assigned to them, that is to say:“the Act” means the Land Drainage Act 1991;
“Animal” includes any horse, cattle, sheep, deer, goat, swine, goose or poultry;
“Area” means the area under the jurisdiction of the Council;
“Bank” includes any bank, cross bank, wall or embankment adjoining or confining or

constructed for the purpose of or in connection with any watercourse and includes all land
between the bank and the low water mark or level of the water in the watercourse as the case
may be and where there is no such bank, cross bank, wall or embankment includes the top edge
of the batter enclosing the watercourse;
“Consent of the Council” means the consent of the Council in writing signed by a proper officer

of the Council;
“Council” means the Council;
“Occupier” means in the case of land not occupied by any tenant or other person the person

entitled to the occupation thereof;
“Ordinary watercourse” is any river, stream, ditch, drain, cut, dyke, sluice, sewer (other than a

public sewer) and passage through which water flows and which does not form part of a main
river network.
“Owner” includes the person defined as such in the Public Health Act 1936;
"Relevant railway asset" means

(a) a network, operated by an “approved operator” within the meaning of section 25 of
the Planning Act 2008,
(b) a station which is operated in connection with the provision of railway services on
such a network, or
(c) a light maintenance depot.
Expressions used in this definition and in the Railways Act 1993 have the same meaning in this
definition as they have in that Act,( “railway” not having its wider meaning) and a network such
as is described in (a) above shall not cease to be such a network where it is modified by virtue of
having any network added to it or removed from it.
“The Secretary of State” means the Secretary of State for the Department for Environment, Food

and Rural Affairs;
“Vegetation” means trees, willows, shrubs, weeds, grasses, reeds, rushes, or other vegetable

growths;

45

“Vessel” includes any ship, hovercraft (as defined by the Hovercraft Act 1968), lighter, keel,

barge, tug, launch, houseboat, pleasure or other boat, aircraft, randan, wherry, skiff, dinghy,
shallop, punt, yacht, canoe, raft, float of timber or any other craft whatsoever, and howsoever
worked, navigated or propelled;
“Water control structure” means a structure or appliance for introducing water into any

watercourse and for controlling or regulating or affecting flow, and includes any sluice, slacker,
floodgate, lock, weir, dam, pump, or pumping machinery;
and other expressions shall have the same meanings as in the Act.

46

THE COMMON SEAL OF THE
COUNCIL was hereunto affixed on the DATE
in the presence of:
The Chief Executive (or other authorised officer)
_____________________________________________________________________________
PENALTY NOTE
By section 66(6) of the Act every person who acts in contravention of or fails to comply with
any of the foregoing Byelaws is liable on summary conviction in respect of each offence to a fine
not exceeding the amount prescribed from time to time for level 5 on the standard scale referred
to in section 37 of the Criminal Justice Act 1982 and a further fine not exceeding Forty pounds
for every day on which the contravention or failure is continued after conviction. By section
66(7) of the Act if any person acts in contravention of or fails to comply with any of these
Byelaws the Council may without prejudice to any proceedings under section 66(6) of the Act
take such action as may be necessary to remedy the effect of the contravention or failure and
may recover the expenses reasonably incurred by it in doing so from the person in default.
(N.B. This note may accompany the Byelaws, but is not part of them)

47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 77.
TITLE

Re-designation of Polling Place

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 24 March 2016

WARD

Bulmershe and Whitegates

LEAD OFFICER

Andrew Moulton, Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
A polling place in which to enable applicable residents to cast their votes at the
forthcoming European Union Referendum.
RECOMMENDATION
That Council agree that Bulmershe Leisure Centre be designated as the Polling Place
for Bulmershe and Whitegates ward, instead of Earley Home Guard Social Club, for the
European Union Referendum scheduled on 23 June 2016.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
Due to a long standing commitment Earley Home Guard Social Club is not available as
a Polling Place at the forthcoming European Union Referendum therefore another
venue has to be designated to enable residents in that area to cast their votes.

49

Background
Section 18 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 places a duty on each
Borough Council to divide its area into ‘Polling Districts’ and to designate a ‘Polling
Place’ for each polling district.
Earley Home Guard Social Club has been the polling place for the Whitegates area of
the Bulmershe and Whitegates ward for a number of years. However due to a long
standing commitment this venue is not available for the forthcoming European Union
Referendum, due to be held on 23 June 2016. It should be noted that as usual the
venue will be available for the Police and Crime Commissioner and Borough elections
scheduled for 5 May 2016.
Bulmershe Leisure Centre is put forward as the most suitable alternative. It is a wellknown venue that has excellent facilities, ample parking, is on a bus route and has
provision for disabled access.
Christchurch Main Hall in Woodley, which is currently used as a Polling Place for the
Bulmershe area of the ward, was also considered but was rejected. The reason why
this venue was rejected was because it would mean having four polling stations within
one venue and it would be further for voters to travel in order to cast their votes.
Analysis of Issues
In designating Polling Places, certain rules have to be followed by the Council under the
1983 Act. These include that:
(i) all electors must be given ‘such reasonable facilities for voting as are
practicable in the circumstances’
(ii) so far as is reasonable and practicable, only places which are accessible to
electors who are disabled should be designated, and …
(iii) the Polling Place should be within the Polling District except where special
circumstances make it desirable to designate an area wholly or partly outside the
Polling District.
Although Bulmershe Leisure Centre is not in the relevant polling district it is within the
Bulmershe and Whitegates ward and meets criteria (i) and (ii) above. It is therefore
considered that this venue is the best option for the ward. Although the room that will
be used at the Leisure Centre is on an upper floor there is a lift which will be accessible
to electors who are disabled. The proposal has been notified to the ward members.
There is a risk to the Council if it chooses not to designate the best venue as a polling
place.
This change will be advertised as required by legislation.

50

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

Nil

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
There are no financial implications associated with this report.
Cross-Council Implications
N/A
List of Background Papers
Representation of the People Act 1983
Contact Andrew Moulton

Service Governance and Improvement
Services
Email
Andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No.

Telephone No 07747777298
Date 14 March 2016

51

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 78.
TITLE

Changes to the Constitution

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 24 March 2016

WARD

None Specific

LEAD OFFICER

Andrew Moulton, Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Reviewing the Council’s Constitution on a regular basis ensures that it is relevant and fit
for purpose.
RECOMMENDATION
That Council approves the following amendments to the relevant sections of the
Council’s Constitution, as put forward by the Constitution Review Working Group:
1)

Rule 4.2.15 Voting - Delete the last line of the second paragraph of Rule 4.2.15;

2)

Rule 5.1.6 Deputy Executive Members
The following additional wording to be added to the first paragraph of Rule 5.1.6:
“The Leader may also remove any Member from their role as Deputy Executive
Member.”

3)

Chapter 9.2 – Code of Conduct for Councillors
Guidance on Bullying and Intimidation (to be included as Appendix C to Chapter
9.2) and the following wording to be added to Rule 9.2.8.2:
“Supporting Guidance on Bullying and Intimidation can be found at Appendix C.”

4)

Chapter 9.3 – Member/Officer Protocol
Revised versions of the following documents:
 Chapter 9.4 – Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy;
 Chapter 9.5 – Whistleblowing Policy and Guidance;
 Chapter 9.6 – Anti Bribery Policy;
 Chapter 9.7 – Anti Money Laundering Policy;
 Chapter 9.8 – Prosecution and Sanction Policy.

5)

Chapter 11.3 – Scheme of Delegation to Officers
A new Rule to be inserted as 11.3.6g)ii) as follows and the numbering of
11.3.6g)ii-v) amended accordingly:
“Approval of Community Asset Transfers under leases of between 14-30 years
following consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration and
Communities, the Executive Member with responsibility for the relevant service
area and local Ward Members.”

53

SUMMARY OF REPORT
Chapter 1.1.4 of the Council’s Constitution states that the Monitoring Officer will monitor
and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are
given full effect.
The report contains a number of proposed amendments to various sections of the
Constitution which have been agreed by members of the Constitution Review Working
Group.

54

Background
Chapter 4 – The Council Meeting
1.

Rule 4.2.15 Voting

On 4 February 2014 a letter was received from the DCLG advising Councils that
legislation would be coming into force shortly that would require a recorded vote to be
taken on any business, including any amendments, relating to approving the budget,
setting the council tax or issuing precepts. Councils were asked to adopt this practice
prior to this legislation coming into force and amend their standing orders as soon as
practicable.
The Constitution was subsequently amended in line with the advice from DCLG
however it has now come to light that the relevant regulations do not actually specify
that amendments relating to budget decisions actually require a recorded vote. A
recorded vote is only actually required on “decisions related to the making of the
calculation or the issuing of the precept”.
It is therefore proposed to delete the last line of the second paragraph of Rule 4.2.15
which states:
“This also includes any amendments proposed to any of these items of
business.”
Section 5 – The Executive
2.

Rule 5.1.6 – Deputy Executive Members

The above rule states that “the Leader may appoint Members as he determines to act
as Deputy Executive Members” but does not state explicitly who has authority to
remove them from this role. The Leader has asked that this be clarified in the
Constitution and it is therefore proposed to add the following additional wording to the
first paragraph of Rule 5.1.6:
“The Leader may also remove any Member from their role as Deputy
Executive Member.”
Section 9 – Ethics and Corporate Governance
3.

Chapter 9.2 – Code of Conduct for Councillors

The Standards Committee, at its meeting held on 19 January 2016, considered a
document setting out Guidance on Bullying and Intimidation which it agreed, subject to
some minor amendments, to go forward to Council for adoption. A copy of the
Guidance, as agreed by the Committee, is attached at Appendix 1 and it is proposed
that this Guidance be included as Appendix C to Chapter 9.2.
In order to signpost the Guidance it is also proposed to add the following wording to
Rule 9.2.8.2:

55

“Supporting Guidance on Bullying and Intimidation can be found at
Appendix C.”
4.

Chapters 9.4, 9.5, 9.6, 9.7 and 9.8

The Audit Committee, at its meeting held on 10 February 2016, recommended approval
to Council, via the CRWG, of the following revised documents which are attached as
Appendices 2-6:






Chapter 9.4 – Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy;
Chapter 9.5 – Whistleblowing Policy and Guidance;
Chapter 9.6 – Anti Bribery Policy;
Chapter 9.7 – Anti Money Laundering Policy;
Chapter 9.8 – Prosecution and Sanction Policy.

Chapter 11.3 – Scheme of Delegation to Officers
5.

Rule 11.3.6 Director Finance and Resources

Whilst considering a proposed Model for Community Asset Transfers the Executive, at
its meeting held on 28 January 2016, agreed the following recommendation:
“2)

then recommends to Full Council, via the Constitution Review Working
Group, that a change be made to the Constitution whereby following
consultation with Services and Ward Members, approval for Community
Asset Transfers under leases of 14 -30 years be delegated to the Director
of Finances and Resources in consultation with the Executive Member for
Regeneration and Communities, the Executive Member of the current
service and Local Ward Members;”

Rule 11.3.6g)i) currently states that the Director Finance and Resources only has
delegated authority to grant leases up to 14 years.
It is therefore proposed that a new Rule be inserted as 11.3.6g)ii) as follows:
“Approval of Community Asset Transfers under leases of between 14-30
years following consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration
and Communities, the Executive Member with responsibility for the
relevant service area and local Ward Members.”
The numbering of the current Rules 11.3.6g)ii-v) will be amended accordingly.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context

56

How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

£0
£0
£0

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Cross-Council Implications
None
List of Background Papers
The Council’s Constitution
The Local Authorities (Standing Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2014
Minutes from the Standards Committee meeting held on 19 January 2016
Minutes from the Audit Committee meeting held on 10 February 2016
Minutes from the Executive meeting held on 28 January 2016
Contact Anne Hunter

Service Governance and Improvement
Services
Email anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Telephone No 0118 9746051
Date 4 March 2016

57

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
Guidance on Bullying and Intimidation (Para 9.2.8.2 Code of Conduct)

Paragraph 9.2.8.2 of the Code of Conduct says: Councillors must not act in a way
which a reasonable person would regard as bullying, or in any way which is
intimidating to others. The following guidance is based on Standards for England
Guidance, now archived after it was abolished by the Localism Act 2011, as well as
guidance issued by ACASi.
It is important to remember that such behaviour will only be caught by the Code of
Conduct if a Member is acting, or giving the impression they are acting, as a Member
of the Authority, and not in his or her private capacity.
What is ‘bullying’ and ‘intimidation’?
Using ACAS guidance as a starting point, the Standards Committee has agreed a
definition of bullying as ‘offensive, intimidating or malicious behaviour, an abuse
or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure
the recipient’. A victim’s obvious vulnerability will be taken into account when
assessing whether bullying has occurred.
Bullying conduct can involve behaving in an abusive or threatening way, or making
allegations about people in public, in the company of their colleagues, through the
press or in blogs. It may happen once or be part of a pattern of behaviour, although
minor isolated incidents are unlikely to be considered bullying. It is also unlikely that a
Member will be found guilty of bullying when both parties have contributed to a
breakdown in relations.
Bullying should be contrasted with the legitimate challenges which a Member can
make in challenging policy or scrutinising performance. Contributing to debates in
Council meetings about policy and asking officers to explain the rationale for their
professional opinions are to be encouraged. All Members should feel free to challenge
fellow Councillors and professional Officers as to why their views are held. However,
Members need to be careful about criticism which becomes offensive in nature which
will cross the line of what a reasonable person would find acceptable.
Criticism of Officers
The Council is under a legal obligation to ensure that officers work in a safe
environment and the same rules about their interaction with the public apply equally to
their work with Members. Anyone should feel free to express disagreement with
officers, so long as it is done in an appropriate way. Officers should make decisions
which are unbiased, and attempts to coerce them or persuade them to act in a
particular way to a point where to do so would prejudice their professional integrity
would not be acceptable.

January 2016

59

Examples of intimidation and bullying from the archived Standards for England
website:
Councillor W. was a Member of a town council in the East of England conducted a
relentless campaign of destructive criticism against the clerk, councillors and the
council. This campaign included making unsubstantiated and inappropriate complaints
about the clerk in website postings, newsletters and numerous letters. The councillor’s
behaviour placed a significant drain on both council resources and members’ time,
caused staff great stress and ill health, and disrupted the normal running of the council.
Councillor S was a Member of a metropolitan authority in the North West of England.
He verbally abused a woman who worked as a cleaner for the Council, after a minor
traffic accident. Councillor S told her that he was going to report her to her employer
and get her sacked. The tribunal decided that a reasonable person with knowledge of
the circumstances would consider that the Councillor had bullied and threatened the
cleaner.
Councillor P was a Member of a district council in the East Midlands. He was abusive
and aggressive towards an officer, shouting at her and publicly threatened to sack
another officer. He also improperly put pressure on staff involved in discussions with
their trade union and in doing so compromised their impartiality. The tribunal found his
behaviour had caused others unnecessary fear and ill health.

i

Bullying and harassment at work: A guide for managers, ACAS June 2014 and Archived content for
Standards for England; guidance on ‘Bullying and Intimidation’ available upon request from the Borough
Solicitor, or to download:
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090505163356/http://www.standardsboard.gov.uk/TheCode
ofConduct/Guidance/CodeofConduct/Factsheets/filedownload,16138,en.pdf

January 2016

60

Appendix 2
CHAPTER 9.4 – CORPORATE ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY
9.4.1 Introduction
Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) aims to deliver high quality services and provide
value for money by being fully accountable, honest and open in everything that it does.
Fraud and corruption undermine these aims by diverting resources from legitimate
activities, damaging public confidence in the Council and adversely affecting staff morale.
To achieve its strategic priorities, the Council seeks to ensure that measures are taken to
prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent or corrupt acts. The aim of this policy is to
reduce losses from fraud and corruption to an absolute minimum.
The Council has a zero tolerance policy regarding fraud and corruption. It has adopted the
following approach.
“In administering its responsibilities the Council is opposed to fraud and corruption whether
it is attempted on or from within the Council and is committed to preventing, deterring,
detecting and investigating fraud and corruption.”
This policy is particularly relevant to:
a)

elected Members;

b)

employees;

c)

contractors;

d)

consultants;

e)

suppliers;

f)

service users;

g)

customers (including the public); and

h)

partner organisations.

9.4.2 Defining Fraud
The Council defines “fraud” as an intentional distortion of financial statements or other
records by persons internal or external to the organisation which is carried out to conceal
the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for financial gain. This may involve, but is not
limited to:
a)

falsification or alteration of accounting records or other documents;

b)

misappropriation of assets or theft;

c)

suppression or omission of the effects of transactions from accounting records of
other documents;

61

d)

recording transactions which have no substance; and

e)

wilful misrepresentation of transactions or of the Council’s state of affairs.

9.4.2.1
Furthermore, the Fraud Act 2006 has defined fraud in law for the first time, defining it in
three classes:
a)

fraud by false representation;

b)

fraud by failing to disclose information; and

c)

fraud by abuse of position.

9.4.3 Defining Corruption
The Council defines Corruption as the offering, giving, soliciting or accepting of any
inducement or reward which would influence the actions taken by the Council, its Members
or Officers. Areas where corrupt practices may occur include, but are not limited to:
a)

tendering and awarding of contracts;

b)

pecuniary interests of Members and Officers;

c)

the award of permissions, planning consents and licenses; and

d)

the disposal of assets.

9.4.4 Framework for Prevention and Detection
It is a management responsibility to maintain the internal control system and to ensure that
the Council’s resources are properly applied in the manner and on the activities intended.
This includes responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and other illegal acts.
9.4.5 Key Principles and Culture
The Council will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of its responsibilities
whether from inside or outside of the authority. The Council is committed to creating a
culture of opposition to fraud and corruption. The Council is determined that the authority
meets the expectations of the Committee on Standards of Public Life and is committed to
the ten general principles which govern standards of conduct in local government, namely:
a)

selflessness;

b)

honesty and integrity;

c)

objectivity;

d)

accountability;

e)

openness;

f)

personal judgement;

62

g)

respect for others;

h)

duty to uphold the law;

i)

stewardship; and

j)

leadership.

9.4.5.1
The Council expects Members (elected and co-opted) and employees (including agency
staff, consultants and contractors) to lead by example in ensuring effective opposition to
fraud and corruption. This includes ensuring adherence to legislation, local rules and
regulations, National and Local Codes of Conduct and that all procedures and practices
are beyond reproach.
9.4.6 Raising Concerns
Employees at all levels should be alert to the possibility of fraud and corruption. They are
expected, and positively encouraged to raise any concerns relating to fraud and corruption
which they become aware of. These can be raised in any way that the employee prefers,
including with their line manager, through a Director, with the Shared Audit and
Investigation Service or through the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy. Whichever route is
chosen, the employee can be assured that concerns raised in good faith will be fully
investigated and, wherever possible, those raising concerns will be dealt with in
confidence.
When management receive concerns from employees or others regarding potential fraud
or corruption, they should immediately contact the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services (and Monitoring Officer) with details of the concerns. The Head of Governance
and Improvement Services will make preliminary enquiries and in consultation with the
Section 151 Officer will determine whether there are grounds for an investigation.
Councillors, service users, suppliers, partner organisations and members of the public are
encouraged to report any concerns. These concerns about fraud and corruption should be
reported either directly to the Head of Governance and Improvement Services or via the
Council’s Whistleblowing Policy.
If employees feel that they are unable to use internal routes then they can contact the
council’s external auditors, Ernst and Young:
Ernst and Young
Helen Thompson
Wessex House, 19 Threefield Lane, Southampton, SO14 3QB, United Kingdom
hthompson2@uk.ey.com
07974 007332
Although the Council encourages its staff to report concerns acting in good faith, any
maliciously motivated and unfounded allegations may be dealt with through the Council’s
disciplinary code.

63

9.4.7 Corporate Governance
The main corporate policies and procedures which formulate the Council’s framework for
minimising risk and the prevention of fraud and corruption include:
a)

Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy;

b)

Internal Audit Charter;

c)

Contract and Procurement Regulations;

d)

Financial Regulations;

e)

Human Resources Policy and Guidance for Discipline;

f)

Human Resources Policy for Conduct and Personal Behaviour;

g)

Human Resources Policy for Recruitment and Retention;

h)

Member’s Code of Conduct;

i)

Money Laundering Policy;

j)

Officer’s Code of Conduct;

k)

Prosecution and Sanction Policy;

l)

Risk Management Strategy;

m)

Scheme of Delegation;

n)

Whistleblowing Policy; and

o)

Anti-Bribery Policy

9.4.8 Corporate Responsibility
Service Heads must ensure that all employees in their service are familiar with the
corporate policies and procedures listed at 9.4.7, in addition to any other relevant rules
and regulations specific to their service. Failure to adhere to these policies and
procedures could result in the instigation of disciplinary procedures.
9.4.9 Recruitment
The Council recognises that one of the most important issues relating to the prevention of
fraud and corruption is the effective recruitment of staff and therefore takes preemployment screening seriously.
Employee recruitment is required to be in accordance with procedures laid down by the
Head of Support Services. As part of these procedures, particular reference is made to:

64

a)

verifying the identity of the applicant;

b)

obtaining satisfactory references prior to appointment;

c)

verifying the applicant is able to legitimately work in the UK;

d)

verifying and retaining copies of certificates for stated qualifications; and

e)

undertaking Disclosure Barring Service checks where appropriate.

These practices apply to all permanent appointments including those where employees
have entered the organisation as an agency worker or consultant in the first instance.
9.4.10 System of Internal Control
The risk of fraud and corruption can be minimised by good financial management, sound
internal control systems, effective management supervision, and by raising public, member
and employee awareness of fraud.
9.4.10.1
Internal control is the whole system of controls, financial and otherwise, established to
provide reasonable assurance of:
a)

proper aims and objectives;

b)

efficient and effective operations;

c)

reliable management information and reporting;

d)

legitimate expenditure;

e)

compliance with laws and regulations;

f)

performance management; and

g)

security of assets and income.

9.4.10.2
Weaknesses in the design and operation of administrative and financial internal control
systems may increase the risk of fraud. Systems should contain efficient, effective, and
well documented internal controls that cover the following:
a)

adequate segregation of duties;

b)

proper authorisation and approval procedures;

c)

adequate physical security over assets; and

d)

reliable monitoring and reporting arrangements.

65

9.4.10.3
It is management’s responsibility to install adequate internal controls and rectify
weaknesses if they occur. To help management discharge this responsibility, systems
may be subject to review by both Internal and External Audit. Auditors are responsible for
reporting to management on significant weaknesses in the control environment, including
deficiencies in the operation of internal controls and highlighting exposure to the risk of
fraud. High risk audit concerns are promptly followed up to ensure issues highlighted are
appropriately actioned.
Management should instigate occasional deterrent compliance checks on the operation of
internal controls within their service and are encouraged to seek advice from the Shared
Audit and Investigation Service on what checks should be carried out. This work should
be used to inform the Annual Governance Statement.
9.4.11 Risk Management
Major fraud risks relating to services should be included within local Risk Registers and
subject to regular review to ensure that appropriate controls are in place to mitigate those
risks.
9.4.12 Role of Statutory Officers
The Council has a statutory responsibility, under Section 151 of the Local Government Act
1972, to ensure the proper administration of its financial affairs and also to nominate one
of its Officers to take responsibility for those affairs. The Council’s nominated Section 151
Officer is the Director Finance and Resources.
9.4.12.1
The Council’s Monitoring Officer (Head of Governance and Improvement Services) is
responsible under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 to guard
against, inter alia, illegality, impropriety and maladministration in the Council’s affairs.
9.4.13 Effective Action
Responsibility for investigating suspected fraud and corruption against the Council rests
with the Shared Audit and Investigation Service. This is to ensure that the investigation is
performed only by properly trained officers in accordance with the appropriate legislation:
a)

Corruption Act 1906

b)

Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act (CPIA) 1996;

c)

Data Protection Act 1998;

d)

Fraud Act 2006;

e)

Freedom of Information Act 2000;

f)

Human Rights Act 1998;

g)

Local Government Finance Act 1992;

h)

Police and Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) 1984;

i)

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002;

66

j)

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000;

k)

The Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992.

9.4.14 Procedure
All referrals will initially be risk assessed and material instances of fraud or irregularity in
the Council will be referred to the Shared Audit and Investigation Service.
The Shared Audit and Investigation Service will ensure the following objectives are met:
a)

investigations are undertaken fairly, objectively and in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations, so as to avoid jeopardising the outcome on legal and
procedural technicalities;

b)

to protect the evidence;

c)

to prove or disprove the original suspicions of fraud;

d)

if proven, to support the findings by producing effective evidence;

e)

to present evidence in an appropriate format accepted by the Crown Prosecution
Service or the appropriate disciplining service;

f)

to apply appropriate sanctions and redress against those individuals and
organisations that seek to defraud.

9.4.15 Completion
Once an investigation is completed the Shared Audit and Investigation Service may have
responsibilities in relation to:
a)

recommending improvements to systems;

b)

attendance at disciplinary hearings and tribunals;

c)

attendance at Court as a witness; and

d)

reporting to the Audit Committee.

Conclusions will be based on fact allowing management to take forward any required
disciplinary and / or criminal proceedings as they determine appropriate.

67

9.4.16 Disciplinary
The Council has in place disciplinary procedures which must be followed whenever staff
are suspected of committing a fraudulent or corrupt act.
The disciplinary procedures are set out in the Disciplinary Policy and Guidance. The Chief
Executive has overall responsibility for ensuring that the disciplinary procedure is managed
effectively. Line managers, under the overall direction of Heads of Service are responsible
for day to day management and ensuring compliance with the Disciplinary Policy and
Guidance.
9.4.17 Reporting and Publicity
Incidents of fraud and corruption are reported through the following mechanisms:
a)

Corporate Leadership Team;

b)

Audit Committee; and

c)

External Auditors (currently Ernst and Young).

Where evidence of fraud and corruption is found, appropriate sanctions will be sought in
line with the Council’s Prosecution and Sanctions Policy. The details of any proven act of
fraud or corruption, including action taken by the Council will be publicised to employees,
Members and the public. This is aimed at deterring further attempts of fraud or corruption
by demonstrating the seriousness with which the Council views such cases. In agreement
with the Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, the Council will report criminal activity to
the Police at the appropriate stage.
9.4.18 Council Tax Investigations
The Investigations Team within the Shared Audit and Investigation Service is also
responsible for undertaking investigations within the Council Tax Reductions Scheme. This
involves:
a)

investigating suspected fraud by false statement and/or failure to declare
changes in circumstances or other method. ;

b)

making random checks on claimants; and

c)

maximising recovery of overpayments.

Where evidence of fraud and corruption is found, appropriate sanctions will be sought in
line with the Council’s Prosecution and Sanctions Policy. Successful prosecutions will be
publicised to help deter further fraud.
9.4.19 Working with Others
Arrangements are in place and continue to develop and encourage the exchange of
information between the Council and other agencies on national and local fraud and
corruption activity. This includes participation in the National Fraud Initiative which
matches data across a wide range of public service organisations in order to detect fraud
or erroneous payments.

68

9.4.20 Money Laundering
Money laundering is the process of moving illegally generated funds through a cycle
of transformation in order to create the end appearance of legitimately earned funds.
The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 details the three principal money laundering
offences as:
a)

assisting another to retain the benefit of crime;

b)

acquisition, possession or use of criminal proceeds; and

c)

concealing or transferring proceeds to avoid prosecution.

In addition there are related offences for failing to report where a person has
knowledge, suspicion or reasonable grounds for knowledge or suspicion that money
laundering has taken place, as well as for tipping off a person that a disclosure has
taken place.
Council Officers and Members who suspect money laundering activities should
report their concern to the Council’s nominated Money Laundering Reporting Officer
(MLRO), the Section 151 Officer (Director Finance and Resources). Further details
are contained in the Anti-Money Laundering Policy.
9.4.21 Conclusion and Review
The Council has in place a clear framework of systems and procedures to deter and
investigate fraud and corruption. It will ensure that these arrangements are fair and
are monitored and updated to keep pace with future developments in preventative,
deterrent and detection techniques regarding fraudulent or corrupt activity.
To this end, the Council maintains a continuous review of these arrangements
through, in particular the Audit Committee, the Section 151 Officer (Director Finance
and Resources), Shared Audit and Investigation Service, External Audit and the
Monitoring Officer (Head of Governance and Improvement Services).

69

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3
CHAPTER 9.5 – WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
9.5.1 Introduction
The Council is committed to delivering high quality services to its customers and
expects high standards from its employees and contractors. In order to maintain
those high standards a culture of openness and accountability is vitally important.
The aims of this policy are:
a)

to encourage you to raise concerns about malpractice within the
organisation without fear of reprisal;

b)

to reassure you that your concerns will be taken seriously; and

c)

to provide information about how to raise your concerns and explain how
the council will respond.

This policy applies to all Council employees, former employees, agency staff and
contractors engaged by the Council.
9.5.2 What is Whistleblowing?
In practical terms, whistleblowing occurs when a concern is raised about danger or
illegality that affects others, e.g. clients, members of the public or the Council itself.
As the person “blowing the whistle” you would not usually be directly affected by the
danger or illegality. Consequently you would rarely have a personal interest in the
outcome of any investigation into your concerns. This is different from a complaint or
grievance. If you make a complaint or lodge a grievance, you are saying that you
personally have been poorly treated. This poor treatment could involve a breach of
your individual employment rights or bullying and you are entitled to seek redress for
yourself. A qualifying disclosure means any disclosure of information that, in the
reasonable belief of the worker is made in the public interest. As a result of this
employees will generally be precluded from being able to “blow the whistle” about
breaches of his or her employment contract. Although an employee making such a
complaint can still use the Council’s grievance policy.
Examples of whistleblowing concerns are:
a)

fraud in, on or by the Council;

b)

offering, taking or soliciting bribes;

c)

unauthorised use of public funds;

d)

financial maladministration;

e)

the physical, emotional or sexual abuse of clients;

f)

failure to comply with legal obligations;

g)

endangering of an individual’s health and safety;

h)

damage to the environment;

i)

a criminal offence;

j)

failure to follow financial and contract procedure rules;

k)

showing undue favour to a contractor or a job applicant;

71

l)

misreporting performance data; or

m)

neglect of people in care.

This Policy does not replace the Council’s complaints or grievance procedures.
9.5.3 Who should I contact?
Having considered this Policy, an employee of the Council, or any other person
covered by the Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998, who has serious
concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, should in the first instance inform
one of the following methods:
a)

Inform Line Manager
In many cases, raising concerns with the immediate line manager is the
most appropriate route for an employee. The line manager should inform
the Head of Governance and Improvement Services of the disclosure and
an appropriate course of action will be agreed. If this is not a suitable option
(for example because the issue may implicate the manager or if the
concern has been raised but remains unaddressed) the concern should be
raised using one of the other methods.

b)

Dedicated Whistleblowing Communication Channels
The Shared Audit and Investigation Service have established a dedicated
24 hour answerphone hotline for receiving disclosures.
Hot line number - 0118 974 6550;
Email:- confidential.whistleblowing@wokingham.gov.uk;
By Post - Confidential Whistleblowing, Investigations Team, Shute End,
Wokingham, RG40 1BN;
In person at Shute End by asking for Investigations Team at reception.

c)

Shared Audit and Investigation Service and Head of Governance and
Improvement Services
The Shared Audit and Investigation Service can offer confidential
independent advice on the use of the Whistleblowing Policy. If you suspect
an employee, a member of the public or contractor (in their business
dealings with the Council) of fraud or corruption you can contact the Shared
Audit and Investigation Service who will discuss your concerns with you in
complete confidence. If you are in receipt of any allegation involving
possible corruption, fraud or malpractice you should notify the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services immediately on 07747 777298.

d)

Director Children’s Services
If you wish to raise a concern involving vulnerable children, you can contact
the Director of Children’s Services on 0118 974 6055 to seek guidance on
how to proceed.

e)

Director Health and Wellbeing
If you wish to raise a concern involving vulnerable adults, you can contact
the Director of Health and Wellbeing on 0118 974 6762 to seek guidance
on how to proceed.

72

f)

Schools
You should refer to the whistleblowing arrangements for the individual
school. If it is not suitable for the school’s Governing Body to deal with, the
concern should be raised with the Director Children’s Services (contact
details above).

9.5.3.1
Advice and guidance on how matters of concern may be pursued can be obtained
from: the Monitoring Officer (Head of Governance and Improvement Services).
9.5.4 Legal Protection
The Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 – sets out a framework of protection
against victimisation or dismissal for workers who blow the whistle (“disclosure”) on
criminal behaviour and other specified forms of malpractice.
9.5.4.1
It applies to making a ‘protected’ disclosure in respect of specific types of
malpractice, which are:
a)

that a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely
to be committed;

b)

that a person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal
obligation to which he is subject;

c)

that a miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur;

d)

that the health or safety of any individual has been, is being or is likely to be
endangered;

e)

that the environment has been, is being or is likely to be damaged; or

f)

that information tending to show any matter falling within any one of the
preceding paragraphs has been, is being or is likely to be deliberately
concealed.

9.5.4.2
The Act covers internal disclosures to the Wokingham Borough Council as the
employer, disclosures to prescribed ‘persons’ such as regulatory bodies (e.g. for
health and safety issues, the Health and Safety Executive), and wider disclosures,
for example to the police and the media.
9.5.5 Raising Concerns outside the Council
In certain circumstances it may be appropriate to raise concerns outside the Council
to the appropriate ‘prescribed regulator’. This should only be done where any
disclosure of information that is made in the public interest and where you believe
the information is true, i.e. more than just suspicion. You are advised to discuss your
concerns with a legal advisor, trade union or Public Concern at Work before

73

reporting them outside the Council. Examples of prescribed regulators are set out
below:
a)

The council’s external auditors (Ernst and Young);

b)

Information Commissioner;

c)

Environment Agency;

d)

Health and Safety Executive;

e)

Commissioner of the Inland Revenue;

f)

Ofsted;

g)

General Social Care Council;

h)

Care Quality Commission;

i)

The Commission for Social Care Inspection; and

j)

National Care Standards Commission.

9.5.5.1
As a last resort you may choose to raise your concern outside the Council to
someone other than a prescribed regulator, e.g. to the police or your MP. You should
only do this if, in addition to the conditions above, they meet one of three
preconditions. Provided the disclosure is reasonable in all the circumstances and is
not made for personal gain, the preconditions are that you:
a)

reasonably believed that you would be victimised if you raised the matter
internally within the Council; or

b)

reasonably believed that the matter would be ‘covered up’ and there is no
prescribed regulator; or

c)

have already raised the matter internally or with a prescribed regulator.

9.5.5.2
It should be noted that wider disclosures (i.e. to the media) can only be protected
where there is a justifiable cause for going wider and where the particular disclosure
is reasonable. The Council therefore encourages concerns to be raised initially using
one of the methods described in 9.5.3.
9.5.6 Making a Protected Disclosure
This policy is intended to allow the internal investigation and resolution of any
concerns raised. In accordance with the PIDA 1998, to make a ‘protected’ disclosure
the whistleblower has to meet certain conditions:
a)

A qualifying disclosure means any disclosure of information that, in the
reasonable belief of the worker is made in the public interest. Therefore,
while the employer can seek a declaration from the whistleblower that he or
she is not knowingly making false allegations, disciplinary action is likely to
be appropriate only where there is clear evidence that the reporting worker
has misused the whistleblowing policy.

74

b)

Disclosure to a regulatory body will be protected where, in addition, the
whistleblower honestly and reasonably believes that the information they
provide and any allegation contained in it are substantially true.

c)

Disclosure to other external bodies will be protected if, in addition, making it
is in all respects reasonable. ‘In all respects reasonable’ means, in effect
i)

the disclosure is not made for personal gain;

ii)

the whistleblower reasonably believed that they would be victimised if
they raised the matter internally;

iii)

there is no relevant regulatory body;

iv

the whistleblower reasonably believed that evidence was likely to be
concealed or destroyed;

v)

the concern has already been raised with the employer and/or
relevant regulatory body; and

vi)

the concern is of an ‘exceptionally serious’ nature – which in a local
government setting could include, say, the alleged abuse of children
or vulnerable adults in an authority’s care.

9.5.6.1
This may be done orally or in writing. If you are writing, remember to give details of
how you can be contacted. Anonymous disclosures present difficulties for effective
investigation. Your identity will be kept strictly confidential if you so request, unless
disclosure is required by law. However the Council recognises that despite the dual
safeguards of confidentiality and legal protection from recrimination that individuals
may still feel unable to reveal their identity. In these situations individuals can report
their concerns anonymously, but should be aware that these concerns carry less
weight with the investigation teams and the disclosure may not be sufficiently
detailed to provide a successful investigation.
9.5.6.2
Allegations that are malicious, or allegations made for personal gain, may result in
action against the person making them. If an allegation is made in the public interest,
but is not confirmed by an investigation, no action will be taken against the person
who raised the concern.
9.5.6.3
It is preferable that a whistleblowing concern be raised as soon as there is
reasonable suspicion. Employees are not expected to investigate the matter
themselves or prove that their concern is well-founded.

75

9.5.6.4
Anyone who has made a protected disclosure will not suffer any detriment as a result
of raising their concern unless it is later proved that they knew they were providing
false information. In addition, whistleblowers are protected from suffering a
detriment, bullying or harassment from another worker.
Examples of detriment includes (but is not limited to):
a)

failure to promote, if linked to the disclosure;

b)

denial of training;

c)

closer monitoring;

d)

ostracism;

e)

blocking access to resources;

f)

unrequested re-assignment or re-location;

g)

demotion;

h)

suspension;

i)

disciplinary sanction;

j)

bullying or harassment;

k)

victimisation;

l)

dismissal;

m)

failure to provide an appropriate reference; or

n)

failing to investigate a subsequent concern.

9.5.7 How will the Council respond?
The action taken by the Council will depend on the nature of the concern. The
matters raised may:
a)

be investigated internally;

b)

be referred to the Police;

c)

be referred to the external auditors (Ernst and Young);

d)

form the subject of an independent inquiry; or

e)

be considered a service issue and referred to the service to respond by any
combination of the above.

9.5.7.1
In all cases, where a concern is raised, the contacted officer shall notify the
Monitoring Officer (Head of Governance and Improvement Services) and the Section
151 Officer (Director Finance and Resources). These officers will assess the nature
of the concern to decide the appropriate response. Some concerns may be resolved
by agreed action without the need for investigation. Any investigation will be
overseen by the Head of Governance and Improvement Services.

76

9.5.7.2
Feedback on the outcome of the concern will be given to the person raising the
concern. This feedback may be limited due to legal obligations of confidentiality (i.e.
if disciplinary action is taken against a Council employee). The person raising a
concern should normally be told:
a)

how and by whom a concern will be handled;

b)

an estimate of how long an investigation will take;

c)

the outcome of the investigation (where appropriate);

d)

that if they believe they are suffering detriment as a result of raising the
concern that they should report it;

e)

that he or she is entitled to independent advice.

9.5.8 What if I am dissatisfied with the Council’s response?
This policy is intended to provide you with an avenue to raise concerns within the
Council. However, if at the end of the process an employee of the Council, or any
other person covered by the Act, is not satisfied with how a disclosure has been
dealt with and wishes to pursue matters by means of a wider disclosure, the
following points of contact are available to you:
a)

your local Member (if you live in the area of the borough);

b)

the council’s externa auditors (Ernst and Young);

c)

relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations;

d)

relevant inspection body;

e)

your solicitor; or

f)

the Police.

9.5.8.1
If you do decide to take the matter outside of the Council, you need to ensure that
you do not disclose confidential information and that you are ‘protected’ in
accordance with the PIDA 1998 (refer to 9.5.5). If you wish to raise a concern
outside of the Council, you may raise it with an external body from the list of
prescribed persons and bodies detailed in the ‘Department for Business Innovation &
Skills ‘Blowing the Whistle to a Prescribed Person’ document:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribedpeople-and-bodies--2
9.5.9 Further information and advice
Independent advice on ‘whistleblowing’ can also be obtained from:
Public Concern at Work 3rd Floor, Bank Chambers, 6 - 10 Borough High Street,
London, SE1 9QQ
Whistleblowing Advice Line: 020 7404 6609
Email: whistle@pcaw.org.uk

77

General enquiries: 020 3117 2520

Ernst and Young
Helen Thompson
Wessex House, 19 Threefield Lane, Southampton, SO14 3QB, United Kingdom
hthompson2@uk.ey.com
07974 007332
Professional Body or Trade Union
If you are a member of a professional body or trade union they should be able to
advise you on Whistleblowing.

78

Appendix 4
CHAPTER 9.6 - ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY
9.6.1 Policy Statement: Anti-Bribery
Bribery is a criminal offence. We do not, and will not, pay bribes or offer improper
inducements to anyone for any purpose, nor do we or will we, accept bribes or improper
inducements.
9.6.1.1
To use a third party as a conduit to channel bribes to others is a criminal offence. We do
not, and will not, engage indirectly in or otherwise encourage bribery.
9.6.1.2
We are committed to the prevention, deterrence and detection of bribery. We have zerotolerance towards bribery. We aim to maintain anti-bribery compliance “business as
usual”, rather than as a one-off exercise.
9.6.2 Objective of this policy
This policy provides a coherent and consistent framework to enable Wokingham Borough
Council employees to understand and implement arrangements enabling compliance. In
conjunction with related policies and key documents it will also enable employees to
identify and effectively report a potential breach.
We require that all personnel including those permanently employed, temporary agency
staff and contractors:
a)

act honestly and with integrity at all times and to safeguard the Council’s
resources for which they are responsible; and

b)

comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the laws and regulations of all
jurisdictions in which the Council operates, in respect of the lawful and
responsible conduct of activities.

9.6.3 Scope of this policy
This policy applies to all of the Council’s activities. For partners, joint ventures and
suppliers, we will seek to promote the adoption of policies consistent with the principles set
out in this policy.
9.6.3.1
Within the Council, the responsibility to control the risk of bribery occurring resides at all
levels, in every service.
9.6.3.2
This policy covers all personnel, including all levels and grades, those permanently
employed, temporary agency staff, contractors, non-executives, agents, Members
(including independent members), volunteers and consultants.

79

9.6.4 Commitment
Wokingham Borough Council commits to:
a)

setting out a clear anti-bribery policy and keeping it up to date;

b)

making all employees aware of their responsibilities to adhere strictly to this
policy at all times;

c)

training all employees so that they can recognise and avoid the use of bribery by
themselves and others;

d)

encouraging its employees to be vigilant and to report any suspicions of bribery,
providing them with suitable channels of communication and ensuring sensitive
information is treated appropriately;

e)

rigorously investigating instances of alleged bribery and assisting police and
other appropriate authorities in any resultant prosecution;

f)

taking firm and vigorous action against any individual(s) involved in bribery;

g)

provide information to all employees to report breaches and suspected breaches
of this policy;

h)

include appropriate clauses in contacts to prevent bribery.

9.6.5 The Bribery Act
The Council defines bribery as ‘an inducement or reward offered, promised or provided to
gain personal, commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage’.
9.6.5.1
There are four key offences under the Act:
a)

bribery of another person (section 1);

b)

accepting a bribe (section 2);

c)

bribing a foreign official (section 6); and

d)

failing to prevent bribery (section 7).

9.6.5.2
The Bribery Act 2010 (http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2010/ukpga_20100023_en_1)
makes it an offence to offer, promise or give a bribe (Section 1). It also makes it an offence
to request, agree to receive, or accept a bribe (Section 2). Section 6 of the Act creates a
separate offence of bribing a foreign public official with the intention of obtaining or
retaining business or an advantage in the conduct of business. There is also a corporate
offence under Section 7 of failure by a commercial organisation to prevent bribery that is
intended to obtain or retain business, or an advantage in the conduct of business, for the
organisation. An organisation will have a defence to this corporate offence if it can show
that it had in place adequate procedures designed to prevent bribery by or of persons
associated with the organisation.

80

9.6.5.3
The guidance states that a “commercial organisation” is any body formed in the United
Kingdom and “...it does not matter if it pursues primarily charitable or educational aims or
purely public functions. It will be caught if it engages in commercial activities, irrespective
of the purpose for which profits are made.” Therefore, we are a “commercial organisation”.
9.6.6 Adequate procedures
Whether the procedures are adequate will ultimately be a matter for the courts to decide
on a case-by-case basis. Adequate procedures need to be applied proportionately, based
on the level of risk of bribery in the organisation. It is for individual organisations to
determine proportionate procedures in the recommended areas of six principals. These
principles are not prescriptive. They are intended to be flexible and outcome focussed,
allowing for the different circumstances of organisations. Small organisations will, for
example, face different challenges to those faced by large multi-national enterprises. The
detail of how organisations apply these principles will vary, but the outcome should always
be robust and effective anti-bribery procedures.
9.6.7 Proportionate procedures
An organisation’s procedures to prevent bribery by persons associated with it are
proportionate to the bribery risks it faces and to the nature, scale and complexity of the
organisation’s activities. They are also clear, practical, accessible, effectively implemented
and enforced.
9.6.8 Top level commitment
The Chief Executive, Directors and Members are committed to preventing bribery by
persons associated with it. Bribery is never acceptable.
9.6.9 Risk Assessment
The Council will assess the nature and extent of its exposure to potential external and
internal risks of bribery on its behalf by persons associated with it. The assessment is
periodic, informed and documented. It includes financial risks but also other risks such as
reputational damage.
9.6.10 Due diligence
The Council applies due diligence procedures, taking a proportionate and risk based
approach, in respect of persons who perform or will perform services for or on behalf of the
organisation, in order to mitigate identified bribery risks.
9.6.11 Communication (including training)
The Council seeks to ensure that its bribery prevention policies and procedures are
embedded and understood throughout the organisation through internal and external
communication, including training that is proportionate to the risks it faces.
9.6.12 Monitoring and review
The Council monitors and reviews procedures designed to prevent bribery by persons
associated with it and makes improvements where necessary. Wokingham Borough
Council is committed to proportional implementation of these principles.
9.6.13 Penalties
An individual guilty of an offence under sections 1, 2 or 6 is liable:

81

a)

on conviction in a magistrates court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of 12
months (six months in Northern Ireland), or to a fine not exceeding £5,000, or to
both;

b)

on conviction in a crown court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of ten years,
or to an unlimited fine, or both.

Organisations are liable for these fines and if guilty of an offence under section 7 are liable
to an unlimited fine.
9.6.14 Bribery is not tolerated
It is unacceptable to:
a)

give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality with the expectation or
hope that a business advantage will be received, or to reward a business
advantage already given;

b)

give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality to a government
official, agent or representative to "facilitate" or expedite a routine procedure;

c)

accept payment from a third party that you know or suspect is offered with the
expectation that it will obtain a business advantage for them;

d)

accept a gift or hospitality from a third party if you know or suspect that it is
offered or provided with an expectation that a business advantage will be
provided by us in return;

e)

retaliate against or threaten a person who has refused to commit a bribery
offence or who has raised concerns under this policy;

f)

engage in activity in breach of this policy.

9.6.15 Facilitation payments
Facilitation payments are unofficial payments made to public officials in order to secure or
expedite actions. Facilitation payments are not tolerated and are illegal.
9.6.16 Gifts and hospitality
The Council’s Gifts and hospitality policy is included in the Code of Conduct - Employees
must ensure:
a)

when acting in an official capacity they must not give the impression that their
conduct both inside and outside work with any person or organisation is
influenced by the receipt of gifts, rewards and hospitality or any other such
consideration;

b)

they think about the circumstances in which offers are made and are aware that
they may be regarded as owing a favour in return;

c)

they have permission from their line managers before accepting such offers and
are aware that the offers may have to be returned or refused;

82

d)

that when gifts or hospitality have to be declined those making the offer should
be courteously but firmly informed of the procedures and standards operating
within the Council; and

e)

all offers whether or not accepted must be recorded in the Gifts and Hospitality
register.

9.6.16.1
How an employee should react to an offer depends on the type of offer, the relationship
between the parties involved and the circumstances in which the gift or hospitality is
offered:
a)

employees must not be seen to be acting in their own personal interests and
need to be careful that their behaviour cannot be misinterpreted;

b)

when receiving authorised gifts/hospitality, employees should be particularly
sensitive as to its timing in relation to decisions which the Council may be taking
affecting those providing the hospitality;

c)

an offer of a bribe or commission made by contractors, their agents or by a
member of the public must be reported to the line manager and the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services. Hospitality from contractors should also
be avoided where employees/team are singled out for example Christmas lunch
etc, this may be perceived as preferential treatment; and

d)

employees must not accept significant personal gifts from the contractors and
outside suppliers, although the Council may wish to allow employees to keep
insignificant items of token value such as pens, diaries, etc not exceeding the
value of £25. The most common form of gift is the offer of wine and chocolates
etc. In general these are shared out among colleagues and provided the offers
are reasonable, for example a single bottle of wine, they may be accepted. It is
important that all offers are recorded in the Gifts/Hospitality Register including
those that are offered and not accepted. Directors should remind their staff of the
process to be followed with regards to gifts and hospitality.

9.6.16.2
No one working for, employed by, or providing services on behalf of the Council is to
make, or encourage another to make any personal gain out of its activities in any way.
Any person becoming aware of a personal gain being made at the expense of the Council,
contractors or the public should follow the Whistleblowing procedures on the Council’s
intranet (Grapevine).
9.6.16.3
Employees may only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to impart
information or represent the Council in the community. Offers to attend purely social or
sporting functions may only be accepted when these are part of the life of the community
or where the authority should be seen to be represented. All hospitality must be properly
authorised and recorded in the Gifts/Hospitality Register.

83

9.6.16.4
Employees may accept hospitality when attending relevant conferences and courses
where it is clear the hospitality is corporate rather than personal, where consent is given in
advance and where it is satisfied that any purchasing decisions are not compromised.
Where visits to inspect equipment, etc. are required, employees must ensure that their
service meets the cost of such visits to avoid putting at risk the integrity of subsequent
purchasing decisions.
9.6.16.5
The acceptance of gifts and hospitality may be a subject of criticism placing the Council in
a position that it has to defend such action. Consequently, it is essential that all offers and
details of gifts and hospitality be recorded in the Gifts & Hospitality Register which will be
held by the Director or nominated Manager.
9.6.17 Public contracts and failure to prevent bribery
Under the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (which gives effect to EU law in the UK), a
company is automatically and perpetually debarred from competing for public contracts
where it is convicted of a corruption offence. There are no plans to amend the 2006
Regulations for this to include the crime of failure to prevent bribery. Organisations that
are convicted of failing to prevent bribery are not automatically barred from participating in
tenders for public contracts. This organisation has the discretion to exclude organisations
convicted of this offence.
9.6.18 Staff responsibilities
The prevention, detection and reporting of bribery and other forms of corruption are the
responsibility of all those working for the Council or under its control. All staff are required
to avoid activity that breaches this policy.
Staff must:
a)

ensure that they read, understand and comply with this policy; and

b)

raise concerns as soon as possible if you believe or suspect that a conflict with
this policy has occurred, or may occur in the future.

As well as the possibility of civil and criminal prosecution, staff that breach this policy will
face disciplinary action, which could result in dismissal for gross misconduct.
9.6.19 Raising a concern
The Council is committed to ensuring that we all have a safe, reliable, and confidential way
of reporting any suspicious activity. We want each and every member of staff to know how
they can raise concerns. We all have a responsibility to help detect, prevent and report
instances of bribery. If you have a concern regarding a suspected instance of bribery or
corruption, please speak up – your information and assistance will help. The sooner you
act, the sooner it can be resolved.
9.6.19.1
There are multiple channels to help you raise concerns – these are explained in the
Whistleblowing Policy. Staff who refuse to accept or offer a bribe, or those who raise
concerns or report wrongdoing can understandably be worried about the repercussions.
We aim to encourage openness and will support anyone who raises a genuine concern in
good faith under this policy, even if they turn out to be mistaken.

84

9.6.19.2
We are committed to ensuring nobody suffers detrimental treatment through refusing
to take part in bribery or corruption, or because of reporting a concern in good faith.
If you have any questions about these procedures, please contact Catherine
Hickman, Service Manager – Shared Audit and Investigation Service.
9.6.20 Other relevant WBC policies
Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption policy, Anti-Money Laundering policy, Whistleblowing
policy, Code of Conduct and Finance, Procurement and Contract Regulations.

85

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5
CHAPTER 9.7 - ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY
9.7.1 Introduction
Money laundering legislation requires local authorities to establish internal procedures to
prevent the use of their services for money laundering. Money laundering legislation in the
UK is primarily governed by the following legislation:
a)

the Terrorism Act 2000;

b)

the Anti-Terrorist Crime & Security Act 2001;

c)

the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002;

d)

Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 2005; and

e)

the Money Laundering Regulations 2007.

9.7.2 Scope of the Policy
This Policy applies to all employees and contractors of the Council. The Policy sets out
the procedures that must be followed to enable the Council to comply with its legal
obligations.
9.7.2.1
Staff should report any suspicions to the appointed Money Laundering Reporting Officer
(MLRO) (see section 5.0) and it is for the MLRO to consider if the circumstances warrant
the completion of a ‘suspicious activity report’ (SAR), which is sent to the National Crime
Agency.
Failure by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead
to disciplinary action being taken against them in accordance with the Council's
Disciplinary procedures.
9.7.3 What is Money Laundering?
The legislation is not limited to major organised crimes, but covers proceeds of all crimes,
however small. The primary money laundering offences and thus prohibited acts under
the legislation are:
a)

concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it
from the UK (section 327 of the 2002 Act); or

b)

entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or
suspect facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by
or on behalf of another person (section 328 of the 2002 Act); or

c)

acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329 of the 2002 Act); or

d)

becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from
the jurisdiction, transfer to nominees or any other retention or control of terrorist
property (section 18 of the Terrorist Act 2000); or

e)

failing to disclose suspected money laundering.

87

9.7.3.1
The defence to these offences is to make an ‘authorised disclosure’ to an approved
person. Approved persons are Customs Officers, Police Officers and the Council’s MLRO
(see 9.7.6. below).
9.7.4 Suspicious Activity
Some indications of suspicious activity are:
a)

any unusually large cash payment;

b)

any overpayment or duplicate payment in cash where the refund is requested by
cheque; or

c)

if a ‘third party’ is involved in any transaction (e.g. someone paying cash to settle
someone else’s bill.)

9.7.4.1
The Council should be alert to large amounts of “Cash” accepted as a payment, which
would normally arouse suspicion.
9.7.4.2
Officers involved in Treasury Management and cashiering activities are the most likely to
encounter attempts to launder money but all staff should be alert to the possibilities.
9.7.4.3
All organisations and each individual is required by law to try to prevent and to report any
attempts to ‘launder’ money (i.e. to use the proceeds of crime in apparently legitimate
business transactions).
9.7.4.4
Potentially any member of staff could be caught by the money laundering provisions if they
suspect money laundering and either become involved with it in some way and/or do
nothing about it.
9.7.5 The Council’s Obligations
Organisations conducting “relevant business” must:
a)

appoint a MLRO to receive disclosures from employees of money laundering
activity (their own or anyone else’s);

b)

implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money
laundering;

c)

maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; and

d)

maintain record keeping procedures.

88

9.7.6 The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)
If you have any suspicions, you must contact the MLRO. The Council’s nominated MLRO
is the Section 151 Officer (Director of Finance and Resources), (Email
Graham.Ebers@wokingham.gov.uk or telephone 0118 974 6557).
9.7.7 Disclosure Procedure
Reporting to the MLRO: Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is
taking/has taken place, or become concerned that your involvement in a matter may
amount to a prohibited act under the legislation, you must disclose this as soon as
practicable to the MLRO. The disclosure should be within “hours” of the information
coming to your attention, not weeks or months later. SHOULD YOU NOT DO SO, YOU
MAY BE LIABLE TO PROSECUTION.
9.7.7.1
Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions they may
give you. You must NOT make any further enquiries into the matter yourself.
9.7.7.2
Similarly, at no time and under no circumstances should you voice any suspicions to the
person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering, without the specific consent of the
MLRO; otherwise you may commit a criminal offence of “tipping off”. Do not, therefore,
make any reference on a client file to a report having been made to the MLRO – should
the client exercise their right to see the file, then such a note will obviously tip them off to
the report having been made and may render you liable to prosecution. The MLRO will
keep the appropriate records in a confidential manner.
9.7.7.3
On receipt of the disclosure the MLRO will:
a)

consider the report and make such further enquiries as are necessary to form a
view on whether a person is engaged in money laundering;

b)

consider all other relevant information in making this judgement;

c)

ensure that nothing is done which could alert the person or business concerned
that a report and an investigation could ensue;

d)

make a report to National Crime Agency, if appropriate, making full notes of the
reasons for doing so;

e)

co-operate with any enquiries made by the proper authorities; and

f)

maintain all records of disclosures and reports for at least five years.

9.7.8 Client Identification Procedure
Each unit of the Council conducting relevant business where a business relationship is to
be established and an account is to be opened or a one-off transaction or series of linked
transactions amounting to 15,000 Euros (approximately £10,000) or more must maintain
procedures which:

89

a)

require satisfactory evidence of the identity of both internal and external
clients at the outset of the matter;

b)

require that if satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset
of the matter then the business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot
precede any further;

c)

recognise the greater potential for money laundering when the client is not
present; and

d)

require that where a client appears to act for another that reasonable
measures are taken to establish the identity of that person.

Staff involved in Treasury Management should ensure that all dealings are carried
out in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy and Treasury
Management Policies which ensure that transactions are only undertaken with
approved counterparties.
9.7.9 Record Keeping Procedures
Each unit of the Council conducting relevant business must maintain records for at
least five years of:
a)

client identification evidence obtained; and

b)

details of all relevant business transactions carried out for clients

The precise nature of the records is not prescribed by law, however, they must be
capable of providing an audit trail.
9.7.10 Further Information and Advice
For any further information or guidance, please contact the MLRO:
Graham Ebers
0118 974 6557 or
email Graham.Ebers@wokingham.gov.uk

90

Appendix 6
CHAPTER 9.8 - PROSECUTION AND SANCTION POLICY
9.8.1 Introduction
Wokingham Borough Council will prosecute any person who commits a criminal offence against
the systems, processes and functions of the Council and/or assaults or threatens any member or
employee of the Council, if there is sufficient evidence and if, in the opinion of the council, it is in
the public interest to do so.
9.8.1.1
When deciding if it is in the public interest, all officers authorised to decide whether to prosecute
on behalf of the Council will be guided by the Code for Crown Prosecutors. Whenever it is
appropriate, the Council will consider offering other sanctions as an alternative to prosecution.
9.8.1.2
The Council will consider each case on its own merits before deciding whether or not to
prosecute. If it is the case that the Council has suffered a material/financial loss, it may take
separate action to stop further payments/ recover money, irrespective of whether it decides to
take criminal proceedings, and where steps to prevent further losses or recover losses already
incurred are not available or desirable in the course of any criminal proceedings.
9.8.2 Alternatives to Prosecution - Cautions
In the issuing of Cautions the council will be guided by the relevant statutory Guidance, currently
the Ministry of Justice – Simple Caution for Adult Offender guidance.
9.8.3 Alternatives to Prosecution - Statutory Sanctions
The Council may consider a Statutory Sanction, whether a monetary penalty or otherwise, as an
alternative to prosecution for an offence where the imposition or offer of such a sanction for the
specified offence or offences is prescribed by law.
9.8.4 Code for Crown Prosecutors – The Evidential Test
When making a decision on whether to prosecute, the Council will first consider whether there is
sufficient evidence:
a)

is there sufficient evidence of the commission of an offence to provide a realistic
prospect of conviction? And

b)

is the evidence reliable and able to be used in court?

9.8.5 Code for Crown Prosecutors – The Public Interest Test
Once the Evidential Test has been satisfied, the Council will then consider whether the Public
Interest Test is satisfied. The Public Interest Test will be assessed following the guidance in the
“Code for Crown Prosecutors” to ensure that any prosecution is in the public interest.
9.8.6 Other Sanctions or Penalties
Where a person engages in conduct which is not criminal, but is otherwise prohibited by legal
statue or regulation applicable to the functions of the Council, or fails in their legal obligation to the
Council, the Council may consider the imposition or offer of a sanction or monetary penalty where
to impose a monetary penalty or sanction for the given circumstances is prescribed by law.

91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 79.

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and
Overview and Scrutiny Committees

Annual Reports
2015-16

Produced: March 2016
Received by Council: 24 March 2016

93

Contents

Page No

Foreword by Councillor Tim Holton, Chairman of the Overview
and Scrutiny Management Committee

3

Section 1 – Executive Summary

4

Section 2 – Introduction to Overview and Scrutiny

5

Section 3 – Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

8

Section 4 – Report of the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

12

Section 5 - Report of the Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

17

Section 6 – Report of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

21

Section 7 - Getting Involved in Overview and Scrutiny

25

Section 8 - Dates of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings 2016-17

26

94

2

Foreword by Tim Holton
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Management Committee

Welcome to the Annual Report of Wokingham Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny
Committees for 2015-16. The report looks back on another busy year during which the
Management Committee and the three Overview and Scrutiny Committees reviewed the
delivery of key services and raised the profile of topics of local importance.
Effective scrutiny is essential to good governance and good governance leads to better
outcomes for the residents of the Borough. So, Overview and Scrutiny Members have
continued to hold the Executive and partner organisations to account, using their experience
and local knowledge to review existing policies and influence the development of new
policies. In so doing Members have been keenly aware of their role as a “critical friend” and
have sought to act in a supportive and bipartisan manner.
A wide range of issues were considered during the year, from road repairs and flooding to
community safety, integration of health and social care and the safeguarding of vulnerable
children. The Committees received presentations from several partner organisations and
questions and submissions from local residents and community groups. Executive Members
and Directors also attended to answer questions about the performance of key services. I
believe that the discussions were robust and challenging but were also constructive and fair.
In addition to the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees specific issues were
addressed by time-limited Task and Finish Groups. The issues considered included closer
working between the NHS and Local Authorities, commuter parking at railway stations and
the development of shared services. Task and Finish Groups allow Members to carry out a
“deep dive” into topics of particular interest and to engage more closely with local
communities. They are an effective way to review service delivery in detail and to influence
policy development.
Finally, I would like to record my thanks to the Members, Officers, partner organisations and
residents who took part in the Overview and Scrutiny process during the year. The financial
and demographic challenges facing the Council will continue to grow year on year.
Consequently, it is important that the Council continues to make effective decisions which
deliver high quality, value for money services. Overview and Scrutiny will continue to deliver
the “high support, high challenge” role which underpins the achievement of this goal.

Tim Holton,
March 2016

95

3

SECTION 1 – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Overview and Scrutiny is a key element in the system of checks and balances which ensure
that Wokingham Borough Council and its partners make and implement effective decisions for
the benefit of the residents of the Borough. The Council’s Executive is empowered to take
decisions within the financial and policy framework set by the full Council. Non-Executive
Members of the Council are appointed to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees to
review those decisions and the way they impact on the performance of key services.
The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function is delivered by the Overview and Scrutiny
Management Committee and three Committees focussing on Children’s Services, Community
and Corporate Services and Health issues. Overview and Scrutiny Committees make
recommendations for improvement to the Council’s leadership and to partner organisations.
The report sets out the range of issues and submissions considered by the Overview and
Scrutiny Committees in 2015-16, including:


Regular review of performance indicators which highlight how services are performing.



Review of the findings of the Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services.



The Council’s response to flooding and measures to improve flood prevention.



Performance of health services, including hospitals, GPs and the ambulance service.



Submissions from Executive Members and Directors on key service developments.

In addition to the work of the Committees, specific issues were tackled by time-limited Task
and Finish Groups. The following Task and Finish Groups met during the year:


Commuter Parking – examining issues surrounding commuter parking at the railway
stations inside the Borough, and at Crowthorne station.



Better Care Fund – examining new arrangements to deliver closer working between
the NHS and Councils, including self-care, prevention and access to GP services.



Shared Services – examining the current operation of Shared Services, the lessons
learned to date and the opportunities for further development.

Effective Overview and Scrutiny utilises information and ideas from a wide range of sources
including residents, service users and community groups. During 2016-17 Members involved
in Overview and Scrutiny will continue to hold leaders to account, providing “critical friend”
challenge to the Council’s Executive and other public service providers. In so doing they will
seek to reflect the aspirations and concerns of local residents and communities.
The report outlines the range of Overview and Scrutiny issues to be considered in 2016-17
and explains how residents and community groups can get involved in the process.

96

4

SECTION 2 – INTRODUCTION TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
Context
Wokingham Borough Council is a large, complex organisation with an annual budget in
excess of £100m. The Council’s Vision is to make the Borough “a great place to live, an even
better place to do business”. The Council makes major strategic decisions which affect the
long-term future of the area and its communities. It also makes decisions on a daily basis
which affect the lives of some of the Borough’s most vulnerable residents. In order to ensure
that the Council spends public money wisely and makes well informed decisions about key
services it is essential that an effective system of checks and balances is in place.
Overview and Scrutiny is a key element in that system of checks and balances. In her report
on Rotherham Council Louise Casey stated: “Scrutiny in its widest sense is an essential
component of Cabinet (Executive) government. It is important that Councillors test proposals
by reference to their broad experience and their knowledge of the Borough and their own
constituents”.
The Council’s Executive is empowered to take decisions within the financial and policy
framework set by the full Council. Non-Executive Members of the Council (representing each
of the political groups) are appointed to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees to
review those decisions and the performance of key services. The relationship between
Council, Executive and Overview and Scrutiny is illustrated in the diagram below.
Diagram: Council, Executive and Overview and Scrutiny

COUNCIL
All 54 Members of the full Council meet
six times each year. Full Council agrees
the Budget and the Policy Framework

EXECUTIVE

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

The Leader of the Council appoints
up to nine Executive Members. The
Executive is empowered to take all
executive decisions (collectively or
individually) within the Budget and
Policy Framework agreed by the full
Council

Non-Executive Members from the
different political groups are
appointed by the full Council to
provide checks and balances on the
decisions taken by the Executive,
review service performance and
advise the Executive on policy issues

97

5

Origins
Following legislative changes to the old Committee system in 2000, the (then) Wokingham
District Council adopted the Leader and Cabinet (Executive) model whereby the Council
Leader and up to nine Executive Members take key decisions either collectively or
individually. In order to provide checks and balances for these powers Councils were given
Overview and Scrutiny functions to be exercised by non-Executive Members. Subsequent
legislation provided further powers relating to the scrutiny of health services and local
arrangements for tackling crime and disorder.
The role of Overview and Scrutiny can be summarised as:


Being a “critical friend” - holding the Executive to account by scrutinising decisions and
“calling in” any decisions causing concern.



Policy development and review – participating in the development of new policies and
reviewing the effectiveness of existing policies.



Performance monitoring – driving improvement in services by reviewing key indicators
which underpin delivery of the Council’s Vision, Priorities and plans.



External scrutiny of public services such as health, crime reduction and community
safety and flood risk management.



Engaging with residents and community groups to ensure that their concerns are heard
and are reflected in the Overview and Scrutiny work programme.

Structure
In order to deliver the Overview and Scrutiny function the Council has established the
following Committees:


Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee – responsible for overseeing the
Overview and Scrutiny function and developing an annual work programme for each of
the Committees.



Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee – responsible for scrutiny of
services relating to schools, safeguarding and child protection, looked after children
and children with special educational needs and disabilities.



Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee - responsible for scrutiny
of Council services, crime reduction and community safety and flood risk management.



Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – responsible for scrutiny of local NHS
bodies, public health arrangements and the work of the Local Healthwatch service.

98

6

The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny structure is illustrated in the diagram below.
Diagram: Overview and Scrutiny Structure

Children’s
Services
Overview and
Scrutiny
Committee

Community and
Corporate
Overview and
Scrutiny
Committee

Health
Overview and
Scrutiny
Committee

Task and Finish Groups

Each of the Overview Scrutiny Committees is made up of non-Executive Members of the
Council. The membership of each Committee is set out later in the report. In addressing
specific issues the Committees may decide to appoint time limited Task and Finish Groups.
Meetings are held in public and residents and community groups are encouraged to attend.
The Overview and Scrutiny Committees are supported by Officers from the Council’s
Democratic Services team.
Overview and Scrutiny aims to provide an open and inclusive forum where a range of
contributors can be heard – Members, Officers, partners and members of the public. Effective
Overview and Scrutiny results in greater openness and accountability and a more robust
decision making process. This is increasingly important as the demographic, financial and
service challenges facing the Council continue to grow.

Exclusions
Overview and Scrutiny is not about the investigation of minor matters or individual complaints.
The Council has a separate corporate Complaints procedure which is used to investigate
individual complaints about services. Similarly, Overview and Scrutiny does not look at quasijudicial matters such planning or licensing issues. Finally, Overview and Scrutiny is not used
for raising issues of a party political nature. These matters can be addressed through debate
at the meetings of the full Council. Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees rely on
evidence rather than opinion and seek to work together to confirm that the actions of the
Council and its partners are in the best interests of the residents of the Borough.

99

7

SECTION 3
REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Councillor Tim Holton, Chairman
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

The report highlights the issues considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Management
Committee in 2015-16. The role of the Management Committee is twofold. The first role is to
oversee the operation of the corporate Overview and Scrutiny process, ensuring that it is fit
for purpose. This involves reviewing the work programmes of the three Overview and Scrutiny
Committees to ensure that key policies and services are scrutinised without duplication or
inconsistency. It also involves developing an ongoing programme of training and development
to ensure that Members and Officers are well equipped to carry out their duties effectively and
in line with best practice. The Committee’s second role is to investigate issues formally
referred to it and to scrutinise matters which fall outside the remit of the three Overview and
Scrutiny Committees, either itself or through dedicated Task and Finish Groups.
During the year the Management Committee considered a number of issues which impact on
the residents of the Borough. These included the development of a new grass cutting
contract, delivery options for the Council’s Highways and Transport service and the
effectiveness of the Council’s public Budget Consultation process. The Committee also
agreed to set up a Task and Finish Group to look at the development of Shared Services to
date and to explore opportunities for Shared Services in the future.
The Committee also invited Executive Members and Directors to give evidence about the
performance of key services and upcoming challenges. This helped to strengthen the working
relationship between Overview and Scrutiny and the Executive and gave early warning of
emerging topics of importance. The Committee also considered ideas to improve engagement
with and input from residents and community groups.
I would like to thank the Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee for
their hard work and support during the year. They have put party political considerations to
one side, focussing on the evidence in front of them and the achievement of positive
outcomes for the residents of the Borough.

Tim Holton

100

8

Remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee oversees the Council’s Scrutiny function
and is responsible for developing and co-ordinating the work programmes of the three
Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The Committee also organises a training programme to
ensure that non-Executive Members involved in Scrutiny have the requisite skills and
knowledge to carry out their roles.
Membership
Councillor Tim Holton (Chairman).
Councillors Prue Bray, Michael Firmager (Vice-Chairman), Kate Haines, Pauline HelliarSymons, John Jarvis, Norman Jorgensen, Dianne King, Ken Miall, Malcolm Richards and
Shahid Younis.
Substitute Members: Councillors Laura Blumenthal, Lindsay Ferris, Abdul Loyes and
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey.
Officer contact: Neil Carr

neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk

Work Programme 2015-16
Consideration of ‘Call-Ins’
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee has the power to review decisions made
by the Executive and decisions made by individual Executive Members. Under the Council’s
Constitution five Members who are not members of the Executive can request that decisions
made, but not yet implemented, be reviewed. No “Call-Ins” were received in 2015/16.
Performance Management
Throughout the year the Committee received a quarterly performance management report
setting out details of the Council’s performance against a number of financial, staffing and
operational/project indicators. The reports included a commentary section with information on
indicators falling below target and the proposed actions to bring performance back on track.
Members asked questions on the key indicators and asked for further information about target
setting and the involvement of Executive Members in the process. The Committee questioned
the timeliness of the performance management reports and suggested that Officers consider
ways to improve both presentation and timetabling.
In addition to the performance management reports, Executive Members were invited to
attend to provide an update on their service areas and to answer questions from the
Committee. In discussions with the Executive Members the Committee highlighted a number
of issues including the need for:


More detailed information on the delivery of Capital projects to specification as well as
to budget.

101

9



Information on feedback provided by residents during the 2015 Budget Consultation
events and how the feedback was used to inform the 2016-17 Budget process.



Updates on progress in developing the Vision for the Borough’s country parks.



Information on measures used to monitor traffic congestion at peak periods.

Open Green Spaces
The Committee received a presentation on the management of the Borough’s open spaces
following the creation of the Cleaner and Greener team in March 2015. The presentation also
covered the preparations for the re-let of the current grass cutting contract with the new
contract due to start in April 2016. Members asked about the format of the new grass cutting
contract and sought assurances about procurement, contract management, contract penalties
and break clauses. Members recognised the improvements in the management of public
open space and requested a further update report when the new grass cutting contract was
established.
Highways and Transport Review
The Committee received reports on the review of delivery options for the Council’s Highways
and Transport service. The options under consideration included extending modified contracts
with the existing contractors (WSP and Balfour Beatty) and re-letting the contracts with a
more outcome focussed specification. Members asked about the current state of the market
and any ongoing performance issues with the current contractors. Members supported the
direction of travel of the review and requested a further update when the preferred delivery
option had been established.
Council Tax Single Person Discount Reviews
The Committee received update reports on the latest review of Council Tax Single Person
Discounts (SPD). Reviews to date had identified additional Council Tax income totalling
£820k with the 2016-17 review expected to generate a further £100k. Members welcomed
progress in reducing fraudulent claims and asked Officers to investigate the potential for
requiring SPD claimants to sign an annual declaration form in support of their claim.
Consideration of the Executive Forward Programme
At each meeting the current Executive Forward Programme is considered. If necessary, the
Committee can ask for further information or request the attendance of witnesses in order to
seek further information on a particular forthcoming Executive decision.
Consideration of the Work Programme
At each meeting the work programmes of the Management Committee and the Overview and
Scrutiny Committees are examined and requests for additions to the work programme are
considered. In addition, the Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees have an
opportunity to provide feedback on the operation of their Committees.

102

10

Update Reports from the Scrutiny Committees
At each meeting the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to
present a short report. The purpose of this item is to share information on the key topics
under consideration, reduce the potential for duplication and enable the Management
Committee to carry out its oversight role.

Task and Finish Group
Following a request from Councillor Prue Bray the Committee established a Task and Finish
Group to examine the Council’s approach to the delivery of Shared Services. The Task and
Finish Group comprised Councillor Shahid Younis (Chairman) and Councillors Prue Bray,
David Chopping, John Halsall and Barrie Patman.
The remit of the Task and Finish Group was to review the Shared Services established by the
Council to date, establish areas of good practice and consider the potential for the further
development of Shared Services. The Task and Finish Group held its first meeting in March
2016 and will submit its report later in the year.

Training and Development
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees recognise the importance of ongoing
training and development to ensure that skills and knowledge are constantly upgraded.
During 2015-16 Members attended a training session which examined key elements of
effective Overview and Scrutiny, including the scoping of reviews, questioning techniques,
interpreting evidence and following up on recommendations. Further sessions will be held in
2016-17 to ensure that Members are aware of changes in legislation and best practice in
Overview and Scrutiny. Training and support will also be provided for Members newly
appointed to Overview and Scrutiny roles.

Work Programme 2016-17
The Committee will continue to carry out its challenge and support functions through
consideration of key performance indicators and the Executive’s Forward Programme.
Executive Members and Service Directors will also be invited to attend and discuss specific
issues relating to their portfolios.
The Committee will also consider the outcome of specific projects considered in 2015-16 such
as the review of Highways and Transport and the operation of the new grass cutting contract.
Members will also review the updated Council Plan and the findings of the Corporate Peer
Challenge undertaken by the Local Government Association in February 2016. Finally, the
Task and Finish Group looking at Shared Services will submit its report to the Committee
during the year.

103

11

SECTION 4
REPORT OF THE CHILDREN’S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

Pauline Helliar-Symons, Chairman
Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Committee’s work is split almost equally between children’s social work and educational
attainment. As well as monitoring all the recommendations put in place by earlier Committees
and Task and Finish Groups, the new work that has come its way is outlined below. This is as
well as the normal performance monitoring that we do each meeting – sometimes challenging
the targets that Officers have set - and which keeps the Committee in touch with how both the
Service’s social care, and schools that have had Ofsted inspections, are doing.
We also monitor what the Service is doing to help schools requiring improvement to improve.
This is now more complex, with the advent of the new academies and free schools, as we
have little control over what they do, yet the department is still accountable for their
standards.
Our earlier work on the role of Governors (the work we did at a Task and Finish Group) has
been paying off, however (as well, of course, as the work and Governor training being done
by the Department), since Ofsted now makes a specific comment on how well Governors are
challenging their Head teachers about the performance of the schools, and there are far more
positive comments than there used to be.
The department’s OFSTED inspection was considered, and the action plan that was outlined
as a result was related to the Council’s own performance targets. The new social workers’
recruitment and retention package has proved a success with some new staff being recruited
from Australia (whose qualifications are similar to ours) and will soon start to save money
over the cost of using agency staff; there is also already a better rate of retention, as the
Service seeks to develop a better career path for our social workers.
Some of the most important work we have looked at this year has been the new ‘MASH’ work
– a partnership between the Council, Police and NHS, as well as other partners, to identify
and hopefully prevent the abuse of children, including sexual abuse; this has been of
particular interest to all Councillors; it has now appointed its first Chief Executive, who is
based in WBC’s offices. This is perhaps an example of the much closer trust and partnership

104

12

working generally that has developed in recent years, between schools, social care workers,
the Police and the Health Service.
All members of the committee and their substitutes are expected each year to attend training
at the start of the first meeting, as this is an area where so much changes so quickly, and we
are keen to keep up to date with new legislation and developments.
I would like to thank all members of the Committee, and the substitutes who have frequently
been asked to attend, for their commitment to and interest in the work that we do, and for all
the positive and useful contributions that they have all made.

Pauline Helliar-Symons

105

13

Remit of the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutiny and
assisting with policy development in relation to services for children and young people. This
includes schools, early years settings and children’s centres, safeguarding and child
protection, looked after children and services for children with special educational needs and
disabilities. The Committee also considers the parts of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy that
relate to children and young people.
Membership
Councillor Pauline Helliar-Symons (Chairman).
Councillors Laura Blumenthal, Chris Bowring, Lindsay Ferris, Ken Miall, Bill Soane, Alison
Swaddle, and Shahid Younis (Vice-Chairman).
Substitute Members: Councillors Prue Bray, Tom McCann, Malcolm Richards and Bob
Wyatt.
Representatives of the Church of England Diocese and the Roman Catholic Diocese,
together with a Parent Governor are also able to attend meetings of the Committee when
Education issues are being considered.
Officer contact: Luciane Bowker

luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk

Work Programme 2015-16
Performance Management
At each meeting the Committee reviewed the performance of the service in relation to key
Performance Indicators. These indicators demonstrate the contribution made by Children’s
Services to achieving key Council priorities relating to looking after vulnerable people,
improving educational attainment and focussing on every child achieving their potential.
Members asked detailed questions on the performance indicators and requested further
information to support the direction of travel set out in the report. At its meeting in February
2016 the Committee mapped the service’s direction of travel evidenced by the regular
performance management reports against the direction of travel evidenced by the Ofsted
inspection of the service carried out in October/November 2015.
School Performance Data
The Committee also received regular School Performance data reports, with an annual report
on the overall results for Wokingham schools across the whole age range of assessments,
tests and examinations from Early Years to Key Stage 5 (A levels). Summaries of recently
published School OFSTED reports were also considered. Members noted the revised
inspection approach adopted by Ofsted and the ongoing examples of high performance in
light of the difficult funding settlement for local schools.

106

14

OFSTED Inspection
At its meeting in February 2016 the Committee considered the findings of the Ofsted
inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and
care leavers. The Ofsted report also reviewed the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding
Children Board. The Ofsted inspection had taken place during October/November 2015.
Members considered the overall inspection finding that Children’s services required
improvement to be good. At the same time Members noted Ofsted’s recognition of the
significant progress being made across the service underpinned by a strong leadership team.
Examples of good practice included a clear Vision for service improvement, a number of wellcoordinated services, good adoption services and evidence of a more stable workforce. The
Committee considered the performance evidence in the Ofsted report and compared it to the
performance management information provided to Members.
In relation to the inspection of the Local Safeguarding Children Board, the Committee
considered the overall finding that the Board required improvement to be good. Members
welcomed the progress made by the Board in areas such as partnership working, multiagency audits and involving young people in its work. The Committee also welcomed the
positive impact made by the new Chairman of the Safeguarding Board.
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
The Committee received update reports on the establishment of a Multi Agency Safeguarding
Hub (MASH) which was due to go live in March/April 2016. The aim of the MASH was to
improve information sharing arrangement amongst the key agencies involved in safeguarding,
including the Council, Thames Valley Police and local health services, Public Health and
probation. An effective MASH would result in earlier identification of potential risks to children
and vulnerable adults. A single point of contact and a streamlined decision making process
would also result in a consistent approach to risk management. Members welcomed the
development of the MASH as part of the broader assurance on risk management and
information sharing to identify and support vulnerable children.
Effective Governing Bodies Review
The Committee considered an update report on progress following the recommendations of
the Overview and Scrutiny Effectiveness of Governing Bodies Task and Finish Group.
Members noted that significant progress had been made which was evidenced by feedback
from Ofsted inspections. Ofsted had commented that Governors were more capable and able
to provide robust challenge to Headteachers about school performance. Members supported
the proposal to develop an advertising campaign to attract potential new governors.
Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Board
The Committee considered the annual Review of the Corporate Parenting Board which gave
details of progress towards the Council’s commitment to being an outstanding corporate
parent. Members considered the work undertaken over the previous year to ensure year-on
year-progress in outcomes for children in care and care leavers. Members welcomed
improvements such as more robust and timely initial health assessments.

107

15

Staff Recruitment and Retention
The Committee considered a report on the refreshed workforce development strategy,
specifically the measures introduced to improve the recruitment and retention of Children’s
social workers. These measures include a decision to attract social workers from overseas
with a focus on Western Australia which had a similar system in terms of the legal framework
and qualifications model. Members requested information about the cost effectiveness of this
element of the strategy and were informed that a significant amount of interest had been
generated resulting in the recruitment of five senior social workers from Australia. Members
welcomed the overall progress of the strategy which had made the workforce more stable and
reduced the previous reliance on agency staff.
Training
It is important that Members involved in scrutinising the work of Children’s Services are fully
aware of how quickly the landscape changes. Consequently, training sessions take place
each year to keep all members of the Committee up to date on the many developments that
take place, both relating to schools and to child protection and wellbeing.

Task and Finish Group
During the year the Committee considered reports on the emerging Primary School Planning
Strategy. Development of the strategy had identified three “hot spot” areas of the Borough,
Earley, Shinfield and Woodley, where there was an existing or potential shortfall in the
number of reception places. In order to oversee the development and implementation of the
updated strategy a Member Task and Finish Group was established under the Chairmanship
of the Deputy Executive Member for Children’s Services. Councillor Ken Miall was appointed
to the Group as the representative of the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. The Primary School Planning Strategy for 2016-18 was subsequently submitted
to the Executive in January 2016 with proposals to deliver new primary school places to meet
demand generated by a changing pattern in house occupation.

Work Programme 2016-17
The Committee will continue to monitor key Performance Indicators to track the overall
improvement of Children’s Services and will continue to monitor school improvement,
particularly in relation to ‘narrowing the gap’ between high and low achievers and the delivery
of effective safeguarding services for children. The Committee’s work programme for 2016-17
will include regular monitoring of the following:







annual report of the Wokingham Safeguarding Children Board;
update on the Early Years Help and Innovations programme;
update on the implementation of the MASH;
annual report of the Corporate Parenting Board;
implementation of the Special Needs and Disabilities Strategy;
update on the recruitment and retention strategy.

108

16

SECTION 5
REPORT OF THE COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Norman Jorgensen, Chairman
Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

2015-16 was the first year of operation for the Committee following the merger of the former
Corporate Services and Community Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committees.
During the year the Committee looked at a number of issues which are important to the
residents of the Borough and to the delivery of high quality services by the Council and key
partners. These included parking, flood risk management, road repair notifications,
community safety, houses in multiple occupation and representation by the Council on
outside bodies.
The Commuter Parking Task and Finish Group carried out an extensive piece of work
investigating a topic of local importance which involved the consideration of evidence from the
rail operators, residents, community groups and local MPs. The recommendations from the
Task and Finish Group were submitted to the Executive for consideration and adoption.
We already have a number of important topics on the agenda for coming meetings as you can
see from this report and more will be added during the next two months as proposals are
evaluated and prioritised.
I thank the Members of the Committee, Officers and those others who took part in our
meetings for their valuable contributions during the year.

Norman Jorgensen

109

17

Remit of the Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for the
Council’s scrutiny responsibilities under the Police and Justice Act 2006 which involves
oversight of the operation of the Borough’s Community Safety Partnership. The Committee is
also responsible for scrutiny of flood risk management, partnership working and internal
Council operations.
The Committee held its first meeting in October 2015 following the merger of the former
Community Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the former Corporate
Services Overview and Scrutiny, both of which held their final meetings in June 2015.
Membership
Councillor Norman Jorgensen (Chairman).
Councillors Chris Bowring, Michael Firmager (Vice-Chairman), Ken Miall, Rachelle ShepherdDubey, David Sleight, Bill Soane and Shahid Younis.
Substitute Members: Councillors Mark Ashwell, Lindsay Ferris, Tom McCann and Alison
Swaddle.
Officer contact: Colm O Caomhanaigh:

colm.ocaomhanaigh@wokingham.gov.uk

Work Programme 2015-16
Flooding
The Committee exercises the Council’s flood risk management responsibilities under the
Localism Act 2011. It received an update report on flooding in 2015 at its meeting in January
2016. The report outlined progress in fulfilling the Council’s statutory obligations as Lead
Local Flood Authority. It was expected that progress leading into 2016 would be sustained
further following the appointment of three Officers to deal with flooding issues. The
appointments included a Flood Risk Manager and Officers working to mitigate the flooding
risks in new housing developments. Following a period of consultation, the Council’s Local
Flood Risk Management Strategy was published on the Council’s website in March 2015.
The Committee was informed that the 2013/2014 winter floods had been analysed by means
of parish-based flood investigations for the affected areas. The resulting reports were made
available via the Council’s website in early 2016. The Council had allocated Capital resources
of £4 million, to be spent over three years, for improvements to the strategic road network and
other roads that flooded previously during major weather events. The Council was in the
process of investigating potential schemes to alleviate flooding which impacted on the
Borough’s roads. The Committee welcomed the progress being made and asked for the next
flooding update report to be submitted in June 2017.

110

18

Road Repairs
The Committee discussed the existing procedures relating to road repairs and communication
between Officers and Members on this matter. The discussion covered both planned and
reactive repairs and dealt with new procedures for inspections of roads and dealing with
works arising from them. Members stated that a single point of contact on road repair issues
would improve the flow of information enabling them to communicate progress to residents
more effectively.
The Committee welcomed proposals to introduce a new single email address for Member
enquiries on road repairs and maintenance. The Committee requested that proposals be
brought to its March 2016 meeting on keeping Members informed of the road repair work
programme. The Committee agreed to review how the new procedures were working at its
June 2016 meeting.
Houses in Multiple Occupation
The Committee received a report on the legal issues relating to Houses in Multiple
Occupation with particular reference to flats and apartments. It heard from residents on the
problems that arise when a large number of houses in an area are converted to apartments. It
emerged from the discussion that parking was the biggest problem. The Committee
requested further updates on this issue including a specific briefing on how licensing and the
Borough Design Guide might be used to help deal with these problems.
Wokingham Town Centre Regeneration Scheme
The Committee received updates on the scheme proposals to regenerate Wokingham town
centre. Officers and the Deputy Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities
provided updates and answered questions on issues such as the overall financial situation,
development plans and monitoring procedures. The Committee noted that the regeneration
scheme model was based on a nil cost to the taxpayer with the Council aiming for a 5% return
as a contingency. The Committee requested further updates as the scheme progressed.
Review of Outside Bodies
The former Community Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee decided to review the
list of “outside bodies” with Council representation. The review aimed to determine the
reasons why the Council was represented and the desirability of maintaining that presence. A
second strand of enquiry emerged to look at the accountability and reporting structure of the
voluntary/community organisations working in partnership with the Council.
The Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee took on this piece of work
and requested a report to its March 2016 meeting. The report included details of the Outside
Bodies including their aims, the Council representative, reasons for Council involvement and
any Council funding provided.

111

19

Task and Finish Group
The Committee received and agreed the report of the Commuter Parking Task and Finish
Group which was established at the suggestion of Councillor Lindsay Ferris and operated
under the Chairmanship of Councillor David Sleight. The Task and Finish Group examined
the problems relating to commuter parking near the six railway stations in the Borough and at
Crowthorne Station which lies just outside the Borough boundary in Bracknell Forest.
The report examined the challenges arising out of the growing demand for rail services
combined with the relatively static car parking provision at local stations. It recommended a
three-pronged approach to tackle the detrimental effects of commuter parking:


alternative provision of access to stations by cycle, bus or parking provision;



effective enforcement of restrictions by the introduction of Civil Parking Enforcement;



a consistent approach to the application of parking restrictions.

The report recommended that some form of metered parking on public roads near railway
stations should be considered. The Task and Finish Group’s recommendations were
submitted to the Executive Member for Planning and Highways and the Director of
Environment for their responses before the report was submitted to the Executive.

Work Programme 2016-17
Apart from receiving further updates mentioned above on Road Repairs, the Wokingham
Town Centre Regeneration Scheme and Houses in Multiple Occupation, the Committee will
examine the implications of the Government’s Right-to-Buy Scheme, the impact of new
legislation on procurement policy and progress on the proposed community café at Shuters. It
will also complete a review into the Council’s representation on outside bodies, including an
assessment of the value for money achieved from Council funding.
The Committee’s meeting in March 2016 included a review of the operation of the Borough’s
Community Safety Partnership which was made up of the Council and representatives from
the police, probation and health services. The Committee considered performance against the
partnership’s key priorities for 2015-16 and any proposed changes for 2016-17.

112

20

SECTION 6
REPORT OF THE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Ken Miall, Chairman
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The challenges facing the health service continue to dominate the headlines. As costs relating
to the ageing population and lifestyle factors continue to increase, the financial challenges
mean that efficiencies and new ways of working are essential. It is difficult at times to keep up
with the speed of changes in the operation of Health and Social Services. Against this
backdrop the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has continued to test the delivery of
local health services and to explore the potential for more collaborative working between
health and social care.
It has been another busy year for the Committee. Our work programme has been supported
and enlivened by contributions from health service providers, the Borough’s Healthwatch
team, residents and service users. The range of contributors and expert witnesses ensured
that our meetings were lively, informative and, above all, demanding in seeking answers to
our questions.
During the year we focussed on a number of key local issues such as the improvement plan
for the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust and the challenges facing the local ambulance
service. We also looked at specific issues such as the local impact of the closure of the
Independent Living Fund and the recommissioning of sexual health services. A major piece of
work was also undertaken by the Better Care Fund Task and Finish Group which met
throughout the year to examine proposals for closer working between health and social care
services. This was a difficult and technical piece of work which will help to inform the
development of major service changes.
The Committee has worked hard to build effective working relationships with key health
service providers, the Wokingham Health and Wellbeing Board and the local Clinical
Commissioning Group. The Committee will continue to develop these relationships in future
years for the benefit of the residents of the Borough.
Finally, my thanks go to the Members, Council Officers, external partners and residents who
contributed their time and efforts to the work of the Committee during the year.

Ken Miall

113

21

Remit of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) reviews and scrutinises matters
relating to the planning, provision and operation of health services in the Borough. This
includes hospital and community health services, family and public health services and the
work of the Local Healthwatch team. In so doing, the Committee exercises powers conferred
through the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Local Authority (Public Health, Health
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.
Membership
Councillor Ken Miall (Chairman).
Councillors Laura Blumenthal, UllaKarin Clark, Kate Haines (Vice Chairman), Philip
Houldsworth, Malcolm Richards, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, David Sleight, Alison Swaddle
and Bob Wyatt.
Substitute Members: Lindsay Ferris, Abdul Loyes, Tom McCann, Bill Soane.
All attendees at HOSC meetings, including members of the public, may ask questions after
each presentation is delivered.
Officer contact: Madeleine Shopland

madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk

Work Programme 2015-16
Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
The Trust had been inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in March 2014 and
overall had been rated ‘Requires Improvement.’ The Committee received an update on the
improvements that the Trust had made and the action it had taken since the inspection. In
particular Members sought assurance about Maternity Services, which at the time of the
inspection had been rated ‘Inadequate’ for Safety. The Committee also asked about staff
recruitment and retention. Members acknowledged the action being taken by the Trust and
the progress being made.
South Central Ambulance Service
An update presentation was received from the South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS), the
local ambulance provider. Members had requested information on the following:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Financial challenges faced by the Trust;
Impact on performance of increased severity levels of calls;
Ambulance handovers, crew change delays and ambulance response times;
National Ambulance Response Programme pilot;
Progress made against the Operational Plan 2015/16;
Co-responding with the Fire Service;
Staff recruitment and retention;

114

22

o CQC inspection September 2014.
The Committee recognised the national shortage of paramedics and the recruitment
difficulties in the Thames Valley due to high living costs. Members welcomed the piece of
work being undertaken by SCAS to fill paramedic vacancies through measures such as
recruiting from Australia and Poland.
Suicide Audit
Members were informed of the pan Berkshire suicide audit. The presentation covered suicide
and unexplained death rates and statistics regarding method and location of suicide, gender
and age of deceased and contributing personal and social factors. Members welcomed the
work being undertaken on suicide prevention. The Committee agreed that it wished to monitor
this topic by means of a further update at its March 2016 meeting, in order to better identify
any patterns.
Independent Living Fund
Members examined the impact the closure of the Independent Living Fund (ILF) and the
transfer of ILF cases to the Council would have on residents and the Council. The ILF had
been established in 1988 to make direct payments to enable disabled people and (where
appropriate) their carers to purchase support that could not be obtained from councils.
Members were advised of the progress of the 18 transferred cases and requested that a
briefing be provided once all reviews had been completed.
Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing
The Committee questioned the Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing, Councillor Julian
McGhee-Sumner, on his areas of responsibility and, in particular, sought and received
clarification on the processes relating to residential placements.
Sexual Health Service Recommissioning
The Committee considered a report on the recommissioning of sexual health services.
Members were informed of the anticipated process and outcomes of the re-procurement and
recommissioning, the rationale for the re-tendering and benefits already achieved. Members
welcomed the savings that the new contract was estimated to bring about. The Committee
asked for information regarding the age range and genders of sexual health treatment service
users and the different infections and treatments to provide a clearer picture of local service
users, the different infections and treatments available.
Health and Wellbeing Board
The priorities and programmes of the Health and Wellbeing Board were subject to scrutiny
primarily by HOSC. The Committee monitored the delivery of one of the Board’s statutory
responsibilities, the production of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). The
Committee commented on the refreshed JSNA and emphasised that it should be easy to
access on the Council’s website. Members asked for a demonstration of the JSNA website
prior to its public launch.

115

23

Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The Committee were updated on the work of the Care Quality Commission, the independent
regulator of all health and social care services in England, in the Borough and specifically
Primary Medical Services.
Healthwatch
At each Committee meeting Healthwatch Wokingham Borough updated Members on its work.
Members noted that, as a result of a deaf blind Healthwatch champion walkabout at
Wokingham Medical Centre, a number of changes had been made to make the centre more
accessible.
Better Care Fund Task and Finish Group
Announced by the Government in the June 2013 spending round, to ensure a transformation
in integrated health and social care, the Better Care Fund (BCF) created a local single pooled
budget to incentivise the NHS and Councils to work more closely together around people,
placing their wellbeing as the focus of health and care services.
At its June 2015 meeting HOSC agreed to undertake a scrutiny review of two Wokingham
Better Care Fund schemes: Neighbourhood Clusters, Primary prevention and Self-Care and
Access to General Practice.
The Task and Finish Group sought to understand changes outlined in the Better Care Fund
and specifically those relating to the two schemes. The Task and Finish Group were informed
of how plans were progressing and how the Council was making the most of opportunities
that were available when implementing the BCF in relation to its Care Act duties on
prevention, wellbeing and information, advice and guidance.
Members established how the Council and the NHS Wokingham Clinical Commissioning
Group were engaging with residents regarding Neighbourhood Cluster arrangements and
access to General Practice and gained an understanding of the increasing demand on
General Practice and how this might be managed in future. It is likely to submit its final report
in the Summer of 2016.

Work Programme 2016-17
The Committee’s work programme for 2016/17 will be an evolving piece of work. The
Committee will continue to receive the Wokingham Clinical Commissioning Group
Performance Outcomes Report and updates from Healthwatch. It will also continue to monitor
current health related consultations. The Committee will also receive the final report of the
Better Care Fund Task and Finish Group during 2016.

116

24

SECTION 7
GETTING INVOLVED IN OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
The Council is committed to making Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings accessible
to all residents of the Borough. A key aim is to increase public involvement in the process and
to remove barriers to participation.
Residents can get involved in Overview and Scrutiny by attending meetings - all Overview
and Scrutiny meetings are open to the public and are held in the early evening to make
attendance easier. In addition, copies of Agendas including reports to be considered are
published five working days before each meeting and can be accessed on the Council’s
website:
www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings
Residents can also elect to receive automatic notification when new Overview and Scrutiny
Agenda and Minutes are published.
Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting includes a Public Question Time session
which allows residents to raise issues of general interest and/or specific issues relating to the
items under consideration.
Members of the public are also able to contribute to Scrutiny reviews by giving evidence
either as an individual or as part of a community group. Residents can also request that a
specific item is considered by Overview and Scrutiny as a review item. Residents can
complete an online Scrutiny review suggestion form at:
www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings/decisions/ask-for-a-scrutiny-review
During 2016-17 the Council will be seeking to make more use of local and social media to
raise awareness of issues coming before the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and to allow
residents to provide comments and feedback.
The Council’s Twitter feed is accessible here: WokinghamBorough@WokinghamBC
If you want to learn more about Overview and Scrutiny or want to discuss a specific issue,
please contact Neil Carr, the Council’s Scrutiny Officer:
by telephone: 0118 974 6058, or
by email: neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk or by post:
Democratic Services, Wokingham Borough Council, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN.

117

25

SECTION 8
DATES OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS IN 2016-17
 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee
Tuesday 31 May 2016 at 7.30pm
Tuesday 12 July 2016 at 7.30pm
Tuesday 20 September 2016 at 7.30pm
Tuesday 22 November 2016 at 7.30pm
Tuesday 24 January 2017 at 7.30pm
Tuesday 28 March 2017 at 7.30pm

 Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Thursday 23 June 2016 at 7pm
Tuesday 13 September 2016 at 7pm
Tuesday 15 November 2016 at 7pm
Tuesday 17 January 2017 at 7pm
Tuesday 21 March 2017 at 7pm

 Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Monday 20 June 2016 at 7pm
Monday 5 September 2016 at 7pm
Monday 7 November 2016 at 7pm
Monday 9 January 2017 at 7pm
Monday 13 March 2017 at 7pm

 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Wednesday 1 June 2016 at 7pm
Monday 11 July 2016 at 7pm
Thursday 8 September 2016 at 7pm
Monday 16 January 2017 at 7pm
Wednesday 8 March 2017 at 7pm

118

26

Agenda Item 80.
HEALTH
AND WELLBEING BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT
2015-16

119

HEALTH
AND WELLBEING BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16
Introduction
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required all upper tier local authorities to establish
Health and Wellbeing Boards from April 2013.
The current membership of the Board is as follows:
o Councillor Julian McGhee-Sumner (Chairman) (Executive Member for Health
and Wellbeing), Wokingham Borough Council (WBC)
o Councillor Charlotte Haitham Taylor (Executive Member for Children’s Services,
WBC)
o Councillor Keith Baker (Leader of the Council, WBC)
o Councillor Prue Bray, WBC
o Dr Johan Zylstra (Vice Chairman) (NHS Wokingham Clinical Commissioning
Group)
o Dr Cathy Winfield (NHS Wokingham Clinical Commissioning Group)
o Katie Summers (NHS Wokingham Clinical Commissioning Group) (currently
substituted by Lois Lere)
o Dr Lise Llewellyn (Director Public Health)
o Stuart Rowbotham (Director Health and Wellbeing, WBC)
o Judith Ramsden (Director Children’s Services, WBC)
o Nick Campbell-White (Healthwatch Wokingham Borough)
o Nikki Luffingham (NHS England, Thames Valley Area Team) (currently
substituted by Hilary Turner)
o Superintendent Rob France (Community Safety Partnership)
o Beverley Graves (Business, Skills and Enterprise Partnership)
o Kevin Ward (Place and Community Partnership)
o Clare Rebbeck (Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector)
The main functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board are:
o To develop a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, which provides an overview of
the current and future health and wellbeing needs of the people of Wokingham
Borough;
o To develop a Health and Wellbeing Strategy based on evidence detailed in the
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment;
o To create and publish a local pharmaceutical needs assessment, which is an
overview of local pharmaceutical needs, services and gaps in provision;
o To encourage integrated working between commissioners of health services,
Public Health and social care services, for the purposes of advancing the health
and wellbeing of the people in its area.
o To consider ways in which resources can be shared effectively between
partners and to pool budgets where appropriate.
The Health and Wellbeing Board met every month either informally or formally.

120

2015-2016 Work Programme:
The Annual Report outlines the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board during the
2015-16 municipal year which includes the following:
Local Government Association Peer Review:
At its October 2015 meeting the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to undertake a Local
Government Association Health and Wellbeing Board Peer Review. The review took place
on 2 March 2016.
The review comprised three Health and Wellbeing Boards: Wokingham, Reading and
West Berkshire and it was the first time that a multi-Board review had been carried out.
The benefit of this approach was that in addition to three individual Health and Wellbeing
Board Reports and Recommendations, the Peer Review would also include
recommendations in the context of common areas across Berkshire West and identify
possible opportunities for collective working.
The Health and Wellbeing Board is awaiting the final report of the Peer Review, the
outcome of which will influence a review and refresh of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s
terms of reference and a refresh of the Wokingham Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
Joint Wokingham CCG and Wokingham Borough Council Emotional Health and
Wellbeing Strategy 2015 to 2017:
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) is a key priority identified in the
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-17. A Joint Wokingham CCG and Wokingham
Borough Council Emotional Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015- 2017 was developed and
approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board at its June 2015 meeting. The Strategy sets
out ambitious actions to accelerate local improvement in service delivery. Board members
were updated on the status of emotional health and wellbeing services for children and
young people locally throughout the municipal year.
The Health and Wellbeing Board delegated responsibility for overseeing the
implementation of the Joint Wokingham CCG and Wokingham Borough Council Emotional
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2017 action plan to the Children and Young People’s
Partnership.
The Local Transformation Plan for Children and Young People’s Mental Health and
Wellbeing was endorsed at the October 2015 meeting, prior to its submission to NHS
England.
Performance Metrics:
Throughout the year the Health and Wellbeing Board monitored performance against
indicators relating to the following:
o Better Care Fund;
o Public Health Outcomes Framework, NHS and Adult Social Care;
o Wokingham Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2014-17.
The Health and Wellbeing Board focused in particular on the performance of the ‘Total
non-elective admissions in to hospital (general & acute), all-age’ metric. It agreed to
review the suite of indicators once the Wokingham Health and Wellbeing Strategy had
been refreshed.

121

Better Care Fund:
The Better Care Fund supports the following projects identified in the Wokingham Better
Care Fund Plan to integrate health and social care locally:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Health and Social Care Hub
Integrated Short Term Health and Social Care Team
Step Up/Step Down Beds
Domiciliary Plus
Hospital at Home Service
Enhanced Care and Nursing Home Support
Connected Care
Neighbourhood clusters, Primary Prevention and Self-Care
Access to General Practice

Neighbourhood Clusters:
The Health and Wellbeing Board was kept informed of and monitored the progress of the
Neighbourhood Clusters project.
The vision for Neighbourhood Cluster working across the Borough Wokingham was:
Through locally focused multi-disciplinary teams, based around GP surgeries, to provide
coordinated, accessible and timely people-centred health and social care services that:
o meet people’s care needs and preferences;
o are safe, comprehensive, appropriate and affordable and are backed up by effective
communication and seamless support, including supporting people to self-care, to
prevent ill health and maximise their wellbeing;
o supported by local voluntary, community and faith organisations.
Connected Care:
At its meeting in December 2015 the Health and Wellbeing Board was updated on the
progress of the Connected Care project. A Berkshire West wide project, Connected Care
was person held health and social care records for Berkshire residents. This would be
across commissioners and health and social care providers so that the individual held and
managed their care, giving consent to care providers to view their records.
The Health and Wellbeing Board monitored the performance of the Better Care Fund
submission targets and received the Better Care Fund Quarterly returns for Quarters 1 and
2. Health and Wellbeing Board members were assured that Wokingham’s Better Care
Fund Plan was progressing against nationally set conditions, describing Better Care Fund
finances and Wokingham’s performance targets.
Care Act 2014:
The Health and Wellbeing Board was kept informed of the implications of the Care Act
2014 and noted the delay in the implementation of elements of the Care Act until April
2020.
Director of Public Health Annual Report:
The Director of Public Health is required to produce an annual report on the health of the
local population.

122

The Health and Wellbeing Board received the draft annual report of the Director of Public
Health at its February 2016 meeting. The report focused in particular on children’s health
and some of the inequalities around children.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA):
The Health and Wellbeing Board monitored the progress of the refresh of the Wokingham
JSNA and made suggestions for improvement regarding the design.
West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report:
A protocol is in place between the Health and Wellbeing Board and the West of Berkshire
Safeguarding Adults Board. As part of this the Health and Wellbeing Board received and
endorsed the West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report.
Partnerships:
The following five partnerships support the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board:
o
o
o
o
o

Children and Young People’s Partnership;
Community Safety Partnership;
Place and Community Partnership;
Wokingham Integration Strategic Partnership;
Business, Skills and Enterprise Partnership.

The Community Safety Partnership, the Business, Skills and Enterprise Partnership, the
Place and Community Partnership and Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector
representatives regularly updated the Health and Wellbeing Board on aspects of the
partnerships’ work.
In October 2015 the Health and Wellbeing Board heard about the work of Involve, an
organisation which brought together community and voluntary groups active in the
Wokingham Borough area.
In August the Health and Wellbeing Board was updated on the Children and Young
People’s Partnership’s core priorities, which included ‘Refresh and renew our Early Help
approach, building on what works well, empowering professionals to always keep child
centred and designing service to enable excellent practice,’ and progress made against
them. These were detailed in the Wokingham Children and Young Peoples Plan 2014-16
which established the priorities to improve support for families and children.
Urgent & Emergency Care Review Progress Report:
At its February 2016 meeting the Health and Wellbeing Board was updated on the Urgent
& Emergency Care Review. The action being taken nationally and locally to deliver the
objectives of the Urgent and Emergency Care Review was discussed and noted.
Berkshire West Primary Care Strategy:
The Berkshire West Primary Care Strategy was considered and endorsed at the February
2016 meeting. The Strategy set out the vision for sustainable, enhanced primary care
services which would play a key role in delivering out-of-hospital care for patients.
2016-2017 Work Programme
The Health and Wellbeing Board’s work programme for 2016-17 will be an evolving
document and will be developed over the next few months.

123

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 81.

Audit Committee Annual Report
2015/16

125

1. ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee plays a key role on behalf of the Council in ensuring there is
effective governance (direction and control) in the Council. It fulfils this role by
obtaining assurance over the key areas of governance, risk management and
internal controls. It does this by receiving reports from External Audit, Internal
Audit, Investigations, Risk Management and the Corporate Complaints Team.
The Committee reviews the Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and the
Treasury Management Strategy and policies. The Committee co-ordinates its
activity with Overview and Scrutiny to compliment and strengthen this key area of
governance. The Audit Committee used all of this work from different resources
to inform a view on the effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk
management and internal control.
(a)

Internal and External Audit
In order to undertake its role of monitoring the Council’s governance
arrangements and internal controls, the Committee regularly reviews the activity
of Internal Audit and the Council’s External Auditors, Ernst & Young.
The Committee has considered both internal and external audit plans, received a
number of progress updates and challenged internal and external audit
performance, requesting further information, when required to provide Members
with assurance.
In addition in February 2016 the Committee received and approved amendments
to the following policies:






(b)

Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy;
Whistleblowing Policy;
Anti-Money Laundering Policy;
Prosecution and Sanction Policy; and
Anti-Bribery Policy.

Prevention and Detection of Fraud and Corruption
The Committee has been kept updated on the work of the Investigations Team
within the Shared Audit & Investigation Service, throughout the municipal year.
Members noted that the work undertaken by the Investigation Team included reactive investigations as well as the development of pro-active fraud drives on high
risk areas such as Council Tax Reductions, Council Tax Discounts, Business
Rates and Housing Tenancy.

(c)

Risk Management
The Committee regularly monitored the effectiveness of the Council’s risk
management arrangements, receiving updates on the Corporate Risk Register at
each meeting. Members requested further detail and context regarding a number
of ‘Further Actions to Mitigate Risk’ and made suggestions to improve the
readability of the Corporate Risk Register.

126

The adoption of the Enterprise Risk Management Policy and Guidance was
recommended in December 2015.
(d)

Approval of Accounts
The Committee is tasked with approving the annual statement of accounts. In
particular the Committee must consider whether appropriate accounting policies
were followed and whether there were concerns arising from the financial
statements or from the audit that Council needed to be informed of.
The annual statement of accounts was approved in September 2015. Having
considered the annual statement of accounts, Members sought assurance on the
Council’s preparedness regarding the Highway Network Asset project and
requested an update for its February 2016 meeting. The Committee was satisfied
that the Council was on target to implement the Highways Network Asset
valuation requirement for the financial year 2016/17 in line with the required
timetable.
Members also received Ernst & Young’s annual report on the work they had
carried out to discharge their statutory audit responsibilities together with any
governance issues identified from the external audit of the accounts.

(e)

Corporate Governance
The Committee noted the production of the Council’s Annual Governance
Statement for 2014/15 and approved it on behalf of the Council prior to its
inclusion in the final Statement of Accounts. The required action to ensure
compliance with best practice in corporate governance was noted.
Councils were required to make appropriate arrangements for certain grant
claims and government returns to be audited; Teachers Pensions Return, Pooling
of Housing Capital Receipts Return and Providing External Assurance on SubContracting Controls. The Committee received a report regarding the
Certification of Claims and Returns – Claims and Returns organised by Local
Authorities at its February 2016 meeting.

(f)

Treasury Management
One of the Committee’s key responsibilities is to agree the Treasury Management
Strategy and Policies prior to recommendations being made to the Executive and
Council.
The Committee received the Treasury Management Strategy 2016/17 at its
meeting in February 2016, prior to its approval by Council. The Treasury
Management Annual Report 2014/15, which covered the treasury activity during
2014/2015 and the actual Prudential Indicators for 2014/15, was considered at
the June 2015 meeting. Members received the Treasury Management Mid-Year
Report 2015/16 in December 2015.

127

(g)

Retrospective Purchase Orders
The Committee continued to receive frequent updates on retrospective purchase
orders and the action being taken to reduce their occurrence. Members noted
that this remained a high priority and was embedded within the monthly budget
monitoring process.

(h)

Corporate Complaints process
Members were updated in February 2016 on the implementation of the Council’s
corporate complaints process.

(i)

Audit Committee and Overview and Scrutiny
As per the Audit Committee Handbook, the Chairman of the Audit Committee has
met twice with the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management
Committee, to discuss both of the Committee’s Work Programmes and ensure
that there is not duplication and to raise issues of mutual concern.

3. CONCLUSION
The Committee is of the view that the Council’s risk management arrangements,
systems of internal control and governance arrangements are suitable to ensure
the achievements of its objectives.

Guy Grandison
Chairman, Audit Committee
March 2016

128

Agenda Item 82.

Standards Committee
Annual Report
2015/16

Submitted to the Council – March 2016

129

Introduction by Rob Stanton,
Chairman of the Standards Committee

I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for 2015/16.
The Standards Committee met four times during the year and continued to focus on the
maintenance of the highest standards of conduct by elected representatives of the
Borough, Town and Parish Councils.
The main role of the Committee is to ensure that the Borough Council’s policies, as
expressed in the Members’ Code of Conduct, are up to date and underpinned by best
practice. In order to achieve this aim the Committee approved changes to the Code of
Conduct during the year which were subsequently ratified by the full Council. The changes
made the Code of Conduct easier to understand, for both Members and residents, and
clarified the guidance around the declaration and registration of interests. Issues relating to
Member interests had been flagged as an area of concern in the previous year’s Annual
Report.
The Committee also considered further improvements to the operation of the Code of
Conduct through an update to the Member-Officer Protocol and the development of
guidance on bullying and intimidation, blogging and the use of social media. Appropriate
use of social media is an increasingly important issue as more and more transactions and
communications are carried out on line.
I am pleased to report that 2015/16 has seen a reduction in the level of complaint activity
against elected Members. This is welcome news, but the Committee will continue in its
efforts to drive continuous improvement and maintain the highest standards across the
Borough. In order to support this commitment, the Committee has sponsored further
training sessions for Borough, Town and Parish Members and Officers.
During the year, two additional Independent Persons were appointed to support the work
of the Committee and the Council’s Monitoring Officer. I am pleased to see that local
residents are willing and able to play this important role. On a sadder note, I would also
like to recognise the contribution of John Bingham to the role of Independent Person. John
provided a wealth of experience, sound judgement and good sense. On behalf of the
Committee I would like to record our thanks and our best wishes to John’s family.
Finally, I would like to record my thanks to the Members, Independent Persons and
Officers who contributed to the work of the Committee during the year.
Rob Stanton
Chairman, March 2016

130

1.0

What does the Standards Committee Do?
The broad role of the Standards Committee is to promote, monitor and enforce
probity and ethical standards amongst Councillors within the Wokingham Borough
area including Town and Parish Councillors.
In July 2012 the Localism Act introduced a locally focussed and designed system
for the adoption of a Councillor Code of Conduct, and processes for the receipt, and
consideration of complaints against Councillors. Although not obliged to do so by
the Localism Act, Wokingham Borough Council decided to maintain a dedicated
Standards Committee.
In addition to the receipt and consideration of Code of Conduct complaints against
Wokingham Borough Council Members, the Committee is also responsible for the
receipt and consideration of complaints against Town and Parish Councillors.
The Terms of Reference for the Committee as set out within Chapter 9 of the
Constitution are set out below:
Role and Functions
The Standards Committee has the following role and functions:
a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, co-opted
members, including church and parent governor representatives;
b) assisting the Councillors, co-opted members, including church and parent
governor representatives, to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct;
c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of its Members’ Code of
Conduct;
d) monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Officers’ Code
of Conduct and the Council’s Whistleblowing policy and any other appropriate
codes of conduct and procedures;
e) advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members and
church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’
Code of Conduct;
f)

the exercise of (a) to (e) above in relation to the parish/town councils wholly or
mainly in its area and the members of those parish/town councils;

g) the presentation of an annual report by the Chairman of the Standards
Committee to Council.
2.0

Who Sits on the Standards Committee?
The Committee is made up of six Wokingham Borough Council Members. These
Members are voting members of the Committee and are appointed on the basis of
political proportionality. A Member from Wokingham Borough Council chairs the
Committee. The current Chairman is Councillor Rob Stanton.

131

The Committee also includes three, non-voting, Town and Parish Council
representatives.
The 2015/2016 membership of the Committee was as follows:
o
o
o
o
o
o

Rob Stanton, (Chairman)
Pauline Helliar-Symons (Vice-Chairman)
Chris Bowring
Ken Miall
Malcolm Richards
Beth Rowland

o
o

Roger Loader (Barkham Parish Council)
Roy Mantel (Twyford Parish Council)

Currently there is a vacancy for a Town Council representative to the Committee.
3.0

Independent Persons
Under the terms of the Localism Act 2011, Wokingham Borough Council is required
to appoint an Independent Person (a member of the public, not a Council Officer or
Councillor) whose views must be sought before the Committee takes a decision on
an allegation it has decided to investigate. The Independent Person’s views may
also be sought on an allegation prior to that. In addition, a Councillor who is subject
of an allegation may seek the views of the Independent Person.
Three people have been appointed as Independent Persons:
o
o
o

David Comben
David Jones
Carole Luurtsema

An Independent Person cannot sit as a member of the Standards Committee, but
may attend meetings of the Committee with the same rights as a member of the
public.
4.0

Who Supports the Standards Committee?
The Committee is supported by:
o
o
o

5.0

Andrew Moulton, Monitoring Officer and Head of Governance and Improvement
Services.
Mary Severin, Deputy Monitoring Officer and Borough Solicitor.
Neil Carr, Principal Democratic Services Officer.

Complaint Statistics 2015/16
During the 2015/16 Municipal Year four Code of Conduct complaints were received.
Three of the complaints were made against Members of Wokingham Borough
Council with one complaint against a Town Councillor. In one case, no further
action was taken by the Monitoring Officer in accordance with the powers delegated
to him. At the time of writing, the other three complaints were under consideration.
In comparison, during the 2014/15 Municipal Year 18 Code of Conduct complaints
were received (of those 18 complaints, eight involved the same complaint against
eight individual Members).
132

A Standards Committee Hearings Panel was held in July 2015 following an
investigation into a complaint, received in February 2015, against a Parish
Councillor. The Panel found that the Parish Councillor had breached the Code of
Conduct. However, no further action was taken as the Councillor was no longer a
member of the Parish Council.
It is worth reiterating the point that the number of complaints received should be
seen in the context of there being 54 Members of the Borough Council and over
200 Members of Town and Parish Councils across the Borough. Whilst recognising
that the level of complaint activity is low, the Committee continues to recognise the
importance of dealing with every complaint seriously and expeditiously.
6.0

Standards Committee Activity 2015/16
Since the previous Annual Report to the Council, in March 2015, the Committee has
met four times and has considered a range of issues including:
o
o
o
o
o
o

Revisions to the Member Code of Conduct – to make the Code easier to
understand and to provide further clarification on the registration and
declaration of Member interests.
The process for handling misconduct complaints against Members – to make
the process more streamlined and to evaluate the merits of an additional right of
appeal for Members who are the subject of complaints.
Updates to the Member-Officer Protocol – to provide a more streamlined
protocol with supporting information set out in appendices.
Guidance on bullying and intimidation – to provide guidance to Members and
residents about the definition of bullying and examples of behaviours from
across the country that resulted in Code of Conduct violations.
Guidance on blogging, networking and the use of social media – to provide
additional guidance to Members on the rights and responsibilities associated
with on line communications and the use of social media.
Regular updates on complaints and feedback – to provide Members with
feedback on the operation of the Member complaints process, the outcome of
individual cases and any learning points arising.

Training and support for Members has been provided during the year, particularly
with regard to the provision of practical advice around the declaration of interests.
Supplementary guidance on this matter has been issued by the Monitoring Officer.
A training session was also provided for Town and Parish Council Members and
Officers. Refresher training will take place as part of the induction process for new
Borough Council Members in May 2016.
7.0

Standards Committee - Future Activity
The Committee will continue to seek improvements to the Code of Conduct and
supporting processes to ensure continuous improvement in line with best practice.
In so doing it will seek to maintain the credibility and good governance of the
Borough, Town and Parish Councils. It will also deliver further training and support
to underpin high standards of ethical behaviour by elected Members and Officers
across the Borough.

133

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 83.

135

1

136

2

137

3

138

4

139

5

140

6

141

7

142

8

143

9

144

10

145

11

146

12

147

13

148

14

149

15

150

16

151

17

152

18

153

19

154

20

155

21

156

22

157

23

158

24

159

25

160

26

161

27

162

28

163

29

164

30

165

31

166

32

167

33

168

34

169

35

170

36

171

37

172

38

173

39

174

40

175

41

176

42

177

43

178

44

179

45

180

46

181

47

182

48

183

49

184

50

185

51

186

52

187

53

188

54

189

55

190

56

191

57

192

58

193

59

194

60

195

61

196

62

197

63

198

64

199

65

200

66

201

67

202

68

203

69

204

70

205

71

206

72

207

73

208

74

209

75

210

76

211

77

212

78

213

79

214

80

215

81

216

82

217

83

218

84

219

85

220

86

221

87

222

88

223

89

224

90

